

# Corporate social responsibility (CSR) and its impact on developing brand attitudes in the fast-moving consumer goods (FMCG) market in India

Anuj Balwantsingh Bolia

MSc. in management

National College of Ireland

Submitted to the National College of Ireland, August 2020

# Abstract.

Anuj Bolia: Corporate social responsibility (CSR) and its impact on developing brand attitudes in the fast-moving consumer goods (FMCG) market in India

The concept of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) has been discussed and handled in many ways, in recent years, by different businesses and organisations. This has prompted managers and academics alike to express diverse concerns in integrating this idea into their practices. Accordingly, this dissertation aims to link the idea of CSR to brand attitudes through the use of primary research and existing literature. The FMCG market of an Asian country (India) is looked at within the framework of this dissertation. To develop a strong and informed understanding of attitudes, the tricomponent model of attitude was adopted after considering different attitude models. The primary research was then designed to assess the three components – cognitive, affective and conative. A mono-method research design involving quantitative data collection was employed for the same. Web-based questionnaires were used to gather data. A mix of analytical tools and techniques were made use of. The results indicated that CSR engagement generally has a positive impact on brand attitude, with the cognitive and affective components showing greater impact as compared to the conative component. Built on a sound primary research resulting from an extensive review of literature, make the findings of this dissertation significant for future examinations.

# Declaration.

### Submission of Thesis and Dissertation

National College of Ireland Research Students Declaration Form (Thesis/Author Declaration Form)

Name: Anuj Balwantsingh Bolia
Student Number: 19129505
Degree for which thesis is submitted: MSc. in Management
Title of Thesis: Corporate social responsibility (CSR) and its impact on developing brand attitudes in the fast-moving consumer goods (FMCG) market in India
Date: August 2020

#### Material submitted for award

- A. I declare that this work submitted has been composed by myself.
- B. I declare that all verbatim extracts contained in the thesis have been distinguished by quotation marks and the sources of information specifically acknowledged.
- C. I agree to my thesis being deposited in the NCI Library online
   open access repository NORMA.
- D. I declare that no material contained in the thesis has been
   used in any other submission for an academic award.

# Acknowledgement.

I would like to acknowledge the support of all the people, who have been part of this weird yet unique journey.

The constant presence of Mr. David Hurley as my supervisor ensured that an environment of learning was always maintained, no matter where I was working from. His influence is highly acknowledged.

Thanks to all the participants for devoting their valuable time.

Lastly to all my friends, thanks for all the radical and diabolical suggestions.

Anuj Bolia

August, 2020

# Table of contents.

Abstract	2
Declaration	3
Acknowledgement	4
Table of contents	5
List of figures	8
List of Appendices	8
List of Abbreviations.	8
Chapter 1: Introduction	9
1.1 Background to the study	9
1.2 Gaps in literature.	9
1.3 Academic justification.	11
1.4 Research aims.	11
1.5 Research questions.	
1.6 Methods and Scope.	
1.7 Dissertation structure.	13
Chapter 2: Literature review	14
2.1 Introduction.	14
2.2 Content of literature review.	14
2.3 Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR).	14
2.3.1 The business case perspective of CSR	15
2.3.2 Motives for adopting CSR.	16
2.3.3 Challenges.	
2.4 Brand attitude	17
2.4.1 Attitude formation and change.	
2.5 Fast Moving Consumer Goods (FMCG) market.	20
2.5.1 The Indian FMCG market.	21
2.5.2 Major players in the Indian FMCG market	22
2.5.3 FMCG and Brand.	23
2.6 CSR and consumer.	24
2.6.1 CSR awareness.	24
2.6.2 Effect of CSR on consumer	25
2.6.3 Consumer perception of CSR motives.	26
2.7 CSR in the Indian context	26
2.7.1 CSR initiatives	27

2.7.2 CSR and the Indian consumer.	28
2.8 Conclusion	28
Chapter 3: Methodology	29
3.1 Introduction.	29
3.2 Aims and objectives.	29
3.3 Proposed research methodology	
3.4 Research paradigm and philosophy	
3.5 Research approach	32
3.6 Research strategy	33
3.6.1 Time horizon	34
3.7 Data collection	34
3.7.1 Quantitative primary data collection	35
3.7.2 Sample	
3.7.3 Analysing quantitative data	
3.8 Ethical issues	
3.9 Limitations to research.	
Chapter 4: Findings.	40
4.1 Introduction	40
4.2 CSR knowledge	40
4.3 CSR and brand attitude	43
4.4 CSR and differentiating factors.	48
4.5 Demographics	50
Chapter 5: Discussion	53
5.1 Introduction	53
5.2 Research objective 1	54
5.3 Research Objective 2	55
5.3 Others	58
Chapter 6: Conclusion	59
6.1 Introduction	59
6.2 Implications	59
6.3 Limitations	60
6.4 Future recommendations.	60
6.5 Concluding point	61
References	63
Appendices	78
A. Questionnaire	78
	6

B. Data from SPSS	81
Cronbach's alpha for research objective 1.	81
Cronbach's alpha for research objective 2.	83

# List of figures.

Figure 1: The tricomponent attitude model (Schiffman and Wisenblit, 2015)	19
Figure 2: Five force analysis (Adapted from IBEF, 2018)	21
Figure 3: The research onion (Saunders et al., 2012)	30

# List of Appendices.

A. Questionnaire

B. Data from SPSS

# List of Abbreviations.

CSR: Corporate Social Responsibility

- FMCG: Fast Moving Consumer Goods
- HUL: Hindustan Unilever Limited
- P&G: Procter and Gamble
- CAGR: Compound Annual Growth Rate
- DTA: Domex Toilet Academy

# Chapter 1: Introduction.

# 1.1 Background to the study.

Amid increasing concerns among stakeholders for society and environment, businesses find themselves under immense pressure to identify ways of sustainable growth that can help them fulfil their corporate social responsibilities (Zafran, 2018). Sustainability and corporate social responsibility (hereafter, CSR) have become the talk of the town in today's business environment, largely affecting corporate managerial policies (Zafran, 2018).

A relatively young concept lacking a generally accepted definition (Mihalache, 2011), CSR according to the European commission is, when "companies decide voluntarily to contribute to a better society and a cleaner environment ... going beyond compliance and investing into human capital, the environment and the relations with stakeholders" (European commission, 2001)

In recent years, organizations have addressed and managed CSR in several ways. With growing number of organizations initiating, developing and promoting sustainability and CSR either to meet the obligatory requirements or as a part of public relations, the power of these activities to develop a purchase intention as well as increasing recommendations by existing consumers is a key question which needs to be understood (Chouthoy and Kazi, 2016).

## 1.2 Gaps in literature.

In spite of the growing popularity of CSR concept, little is known about its ability to influence consumer attitudes and decisions (Sen and Bhattacharya, 2001). Additionally, most of the existing literature results from the study of consumers in the U.S. (Maignan, 2001). Hence, making it interesting to understand the impact of CSR in an Indian setting.

The existing research gets more complex when the factor of consumer awareness is brought in. Beckman (2007), suggests that individual interest drives the resultant impact that CSR has on attitude and behaviour. Therefore, in a case where a consumer is not aware of CSR or lacks knowledge, such impact might not be present (Belk, Devinny and Eckhard, 2005). This indicates that lack of awareness may negate the intended impact of CSR on consumers. However, in cases where consumers are highly educated and aware, the intended impact would be seen in their decision making (Mohr, Webb and Harris, 2001). Such contradiction and complexities make the study of CSR from a consumer perspective interesting.

Indian companies are increasingly expanding their CSR spending across various sectors ranging from child education to health care and environment (Ramesh, Saha, Goswami, Sekar and Dahiya, 2018). Such expansion is driven by the belief that goodwill resulting from CSR will drive competitive advantage, consequently triggering sales growth and business sustainability (Ramesh *et al.*, 2018). While undertaking the review of literature, the sources exploring CSR from an Indian company and consumer perspective were few and far between. Considering the fact that CSR is now a mandatory obligation for major Indian corporations, such lack of research is difficult to explain. Hence, indicating a lack of research in an Indian setting.

Given that both, CSR and marketing, are mainly concerned with interaction of the corporation and the society, suggestions have been made that a leadership role should be taken by marketing in exploration of CSR (Lantos, 2001). Commonalities can be found in various aspects of CSR and marketing related concepts. Such consistencies could be found in concepts like societal marketing, socially responsible buying, environmental marketing, cause related marketing and sustainable consumption (Valaand, Heide and Grønhaug, 2008). Therefore, exploiting these areas to effectively fulfil the CSR as well as the marketing objectives is vital from an organizational point of view.

Relative to the goals of the analysis, this research first targets an analysis of the theoretical framework linking CSR and different aspects of marketing, branding and consumer conduct. The research will then examine the link between CSR and brand attitudes, presenting in detail the mechanisms through which CSR affects these factors. Finally, the research will discuss how CSR plays a role in influencing consumers by affecting their brand attitude in context of the Indian FMCG market.

10

## 1.3 Academic justification.

With consumers today being more organized, better informed, more involved and demanding than before, an increasing consumer interest can be seen in CSR activities of firms (Kiessling Isaksson and Yasar, 2015; KPMG, 2011; Appiah-Adu and Singh, 1998). This has forced the firms to adopt a broader market approach, to better serve the firm objectives and CSR objectives (Kang, 2009; Luo and Bhattacharya, 2009; Lopez, Garcia and Rodriguez, 2007).

Generally, a company can communicate its CSR initiatives in numerous ways, depending on who it is to be communicated to. However, such communication rarely targets general public as an audience (Dawkins, 2004). But with growing interests, consumers are demanding more information so as to punish "bad" companies and reward "good" ones (Lewis, 2001). Thus, rather than focusing on stakeholders in general, firms should focus directly on consumers in this respect (Wood, 2010). This makes it important to understand CSR from a consumer perspective, to better predict consumer behaviour and understand attitudes to fill gaps in existing literature. A similar opinion is shared by various authors, for instance, Sen and Bhattacharya (2001), Mohr *et al.* (2001).

With the awareness about CSR growing rapidly over the last few years, understanding its relevance and what it means for the FMCG industry is important. Bearing in mind that India is one of the major manufacturing hubs for global companies, one of the fastest growing economies and a huge consumer base (Gupta and Hodges, 2012), sustainable and socially responsible action is important on part of companies. Thus, the study aims to understand the attitude that consumers in India have towards CSR and specifically its pursuit in the FMCG industry.

## 1.4 Research aims.

Although certain literature does exist in the area of CSR and consumer behaviour, the impact on brand attitude in response to CSR activities is yet to be thoroughly explored in developing countries. Considering this substantially unexplored area, the research aims to dive into it to bridge the gap in literature. By highlighting the impact on brand attitude, the research aims to contribute in an area which usually is not apparent, but has the power to influence behaviour for a long-term. Further, the examination of CSR from an Indian consumers' perspective will elucidate how they perceive CSR.

## 1.5 Research questions.

In pursuit of the aims, certain questions have been developed to give nucleus to the research and keep the efforts focused on targets. These are as follows:

RQ1: What are the differentiating factors of a CSR initiative that attracts the attention of a wider audience?

RQ2: What changes occur in consumers' brand attitude, subsequent to obtaining knowledge about a company/product's CSR initiatives?

The use of primary research methods is made to answer the research questions.

## 1.6 Methods and Scope.

Considering the research aim and questions, the basic direction of the research is proposed to be an empirical one, with adoption of a descriptive research design. This is followed by the methodological choices open to the researcher – mono and mixed. The mixed method choice has been disregarded due to lack of controls and the limitation of time. Under the mono method, quantitative approach will be adopted due to the nature of research topic, which focuses on gathering and exploring subconscious consumer knowledge. Through a cross-sectional time-horizon, a survey questionnaire will be used to collect the required data. The sample for collection of this data, is to be selected through use of non-probability sampling techniques of convenience and snowball sampling. The methodologies have been discussed in detail in chapter 3.

The research focuses on the concept of brand attitude which is a part of consumer behaviour. Therefore, the research will restrict itself to the study of this concept. Only the brand attitude aspect of behaviour will be explored. Further, CSR and consumer interaction involves variety of aspects across different fields and exploring every aspect in detail will be too vast and difficult under the circumstance. Hence, for the purpose of research, a small number of questions from every aspect are included in the questionnaire, based on the tricomponent attitude model i.e. cognitive, affective and conative components.

## 1.7 Dissertation structure.

The dissertation follows a naturally evolving structure to give the reader a clear understanding of what the research intends to establish. Consisting of six chapters, which are demonstrated as below:

**Chapter one** introduces the topic in brief, highlighting the background and the gaps in that background. Consequently, justifying the rationale for research including the aims and questions that research intends to answer.

**Chapter two** deals with the existing literature on the selected topic, which is an extension of the background mentioned in chapter one. The literature relevant to research questions will be explored in-depth.

**Chapter three** highlights the philosophical position of the research and subsequently decides on the methodological choice within the philosophy, justifying the approaches taken. Further, elucidating the data collection and analysis techniques to be used.

**Chapter four** will present the data collected through the use of primary data collection techniques, specified in the previous chapter.

**Chapter five** will make use of analysis techniques to decode the data into useful information. Thenceforth making a critical reflection in relation to theory examined in chapter two.

**Chapter six** is the conclusion of the entire research process. This will be done by assessing whether the research congregated the aims and objectives it set out to achieve. Recommendations for future research are then made based on conclusions.

# Chapter 2: Literature review.

# 2.1 Introduction.

Any research that is socially significant, is bound to have a relevant literature. This is because a research does not occur in vacuum. Therefore, identification of relevant literature in order to familiarise the reader with the existing theory base is vital. It lays a foundation on which the research is built (Saunders, Lewis and Thornhill, 2016). This review helps in providing an overview of what has been done before (Hofstee, 2006).

# 2.2 Content of literature review.

The review of literature attempts to explore the topic from an academic as well as an industrial standpoint. The review offers a holistic view of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) by examining the business perspectives of CSR. The motives for undertaking CSR activities are explored to understand the relevance of CSR in the business environment. The review also provides insights into brand attitude by scrutinising brand attitude models and discussing attitude formation and changes.

Next, an analysis of Indian FMCG market addresses the industrial aspect of the literature. Consumer's perception towards CSR is investigated by deducing consumer's CSR awareness and its resultants effects. Further, the Indian aspect of CSR is examined, identifying the key CSR initiatives undertaken and understanding the consumer identification of the same. All parts of the literature review then converge, presenting evidence for the emerging research question.

# 2.3 Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR).

As mentioned earlier, CSR lacks any generally accepted definition. However, most descriptions of CSR connect it to an organization's voluntary social and environmental aspects (Żemigała, 2017). Such connection could be found in the definition provided by Van Marrewijk and Werre (2003), where they define CSR as a set of voluntary activities demonstrating "the inclusion of social and environmental concerns in business operations and in interactions with stakeholders". Further, their

research indicates how companies today are increasingly focusing their efforts and embracing sustainable development and CSR.

The emergence of the CSR concept could be found in the western developed economies resulting from the concerns of investors, stakeholders and activists (Palihawadana, Oghazi and Liu, 2016). However, the need and importance of CSR is felt more in the developing countries, rather than their wealthier contemporaries (Khan, Lew and Park, 2015), as there is usually a lack of social goods provided by institutions in such countries (Samy, Ogiri and Bampton, 2015). Such deficiency is generally due to the absence of an institutionalized CSR practice (Lund-Thomsen, Lindgreen and Vanhamme, 2016). This absence leads to companies acting in a manner which would be deemed negative and socially irresponsible (Palihawadana *et al.*, 2016). Therefore, understanding why a company engages in socially responsible behaviour and what motivates this decision is imperative.

#### 2.3.1 The business case perspective of CSR.

A business case refers to the documenting of rationales, that lead to adoption and advancement of CSR cause (Carroll and Shabana, 2010). For many years, organizations have been asking their managers to identify win-win situations or opportunities that lead to a better environmental and social performance, while having a positive impact on profits as well; thereby, it could be said that the business case perspective of CSR has been a part of management literature for many years (Hart, 1995). Today, the concept of business case could be found in many eminent books, reports and articles which explain how the linking of financial targets with social improvements lead to better performance (Vogel, 2005).

The use of business case as an assumption can be observed in many CSR theories. Therefore, CSR research has been dominated by studies on the business case, even though data required to establish a link between CSR and profit maximization is not robust (Margolis and Walsh, 2003).

However, it can be contended that the idea behind the business case is to make CSR and its adoption more attractive and alluring to managers and organizations (King and Toffel, 2009). Thus, the literature on business case and CSR practices attempts to aid managers in understanding the business's social & environmental aspects and why these require attention. Further, it introduces CSR as a subject capable of influencing and adding to shareholder value (Blowfield and Murray, 2008).

### 2.3.2 Motives for adopting CSR.

Understanding the reasons that lead to or deter the socially responsible behaviour of an organization is an important aspect (Campbell, 2007). While the consideration of financial benefits as the key motivating factor for adopting a CSR approach is common, certain intrinsic factors may also drive CSR (Graafland and Mazereeuw-Van der Duijn Schouten, 2012; Van Beurden and Gössling 2008). These intrinsic factors may be certain altruistic motives or the perception that CSR is a moral duty (Brønn and Vidaver-Cohen, 2009). Therefore, the motives for CSR adoption could be either extrinsic or intrinsic.

An organization's CSR contribution could be a result of various extrinsic objects. With empirical evidence suggesting a positive co-relation between profitability/stakeholder value and CSR, the first and the most common motive is to improve the financial performance (Tudway and Pascal, 2006; Orlitzky, Schmidt and Rynes, 2003). Some studies cite the role of governments, to make organizations socially responsible through the use of regulation, support, guidance and partnerships, as a key driver of CSR contribution (Moon and Vogel, 2008; Aguilera, Rupp, Williams and Ganapathi, 2007). Further, competitive pressures may also drive adoption of certain CSR practices (Hess, Rogovsky and Dunfee, 2002).

On the other hand, intrinsic motives are the non-financial motives driving CSR. The key differentiating factor is that, here CSR is an end in itself which is not concerned with the concurrent benefits (Graafland and Mazereeuw-Van der Duijn Schouten, 2012). Some Managers and organizations view CSR as moral duty and embrace it because it is the right thing to do (Etzioni, 1988). While some view CSR as means of doing good for the society and ensuring well-being of others, demonstrating an altruistic motive (Husted and Salazar, 2006). Thus, altruism and moral duty can be viewed as the factors causing intrinsic motives.

## 2.3.3 Challenges.

Corporations face a difficulty when ensuring an efficient implementation of their CSR programs (Jonker and Witte, 2006). This difficulty stems from multiple reasons which may include lack in understanding, availability of trained personnel, measuring reach and effectiveness to name a few (Nadaf and Nadaf, 2014; Jonker and Witte, 2006).

Further, the argument of CSR being merely an attempt at window-dressing, made by Henderson (2001), cannot be completely denied. Furthermore, the profitability of CSR in long-term is debatable as corporate analysis failed to draw a clear picture (Kuepfer and Papula, 2010). In literature, both supporters and critics have found data and results in their favour. Thus, the only emerging result from contrary studies is the inability to determine whether CSR adoption truly pays out in financial terms, over a period of time (Kuepfer and Papula, 2010; Griffin and Mahon, 1997).

Lastly, the two-facedness of corporations towards CSR is another widely discussed topic (Poonamalle, 2012). The line separating cynical and credulous organizations is very miniscule and thus, makes it very important to distinguish the corporations engaging in truly responsible behavioural practices from those superficially undertaking CSR (Werther and Chandler, 2006). The case of Enron, a firm having powerful CSR credentials on surface, is used by Werther and Chandler (2006) to better explain this point. Therefore, considering the conflicting views, to understand the contrary viewpoints, is crucial to address the challenges represented.

## 2.4 Brand attitude.

Attitude is a highly popular and widely researched marketing topic. As a result, wide range of definitions from different perspectives can be found about attitude. Mitchell and Olson (1981, p. 318) define attitude as "an individual's internal evaluation of an object such as a branded product", thereby connecting attitude to brand.

Brand attitude is a combination of a variety of factors such as brand image, awareness, associated brand attributes and benefits, that lead to an overall brand evaluation (Ajzen and Fishbein, 1980). One reason why brand attitude attracts such great interest of literature is the belief that attitudes are comparatively stable and long-lasting; thus, useful in predicting consumer behaviour (Mitchell and Olson, 1981). Further, consumer purchase intention is closely linked and is impacted by the brand attitude (Sicilia, Ruiz and Reynolds, 2006).

Brand attitude can be identified as one of the communication effects (Adis and Jun, 2013). The understanding of this effect, is essential to understand the ultimate purchase of the brand. However, the ultimate purchase made by a customer is, without a doubt, a behavioural aspect and may not particularly indicate the same attitude towards the brand (Ramesh *et al.*, 2018; Spears and Singh, 2004). Nevertheless, brand attitude may be identified as a motivator of the ultimate action (Ramesh *et al.*, 2018)

### 2.4.1 Attitude formation and change.

The understanding of how attitudes are formed or how change is brought about in an existing attitude, is likely to lead to identification of such attitudeforming/changing behaviours. This identification gives marketers an ability to predict and influence such behaviours (Schiffman and Wisenblit, 2015). In relation to attitude and these behaviours, Schiffman and Wisenblit (2015) identified certain key characteristics of attitude. The first being the identification of attitude as a "learned predisposition". Secondly, understanding that attitudes and behaviours are consistent and lastly, realizing that attitudes are results of situation (Schiffman and Wisenblit, 2015). Thus, comprehending that attitudes are circumstantial, experiential and substantial, is vital to create a foundation for understanding attitude formation and change.

To understand attitude, identify its underlying components and understand behaviour, researchers proposed certain models. Some of the more researched and commonly used models are discussed below.

#### 2.4.1.1 The tricomponent attitude model.

The tricomponent model proposed initially by Rosenberg and Hovland (1960) and widely researched upon thereafter, emphasizes that attitude comprises of three main components, namely cognitive, affective and conative components (Schiffman and Wisenblit, 2015; Chih, Liou and Hsu, 2014). The cognitive component comprises of the stage where the consumers acquire knowledge, leading to forming of

perceptions; such knowledge is a result of consumers' experiences and attained information. This knowledge leads to development of emotions and feelings towards the brand, which can also be classified as the affective component. The conative component indicates how likely an individual is, to undertake an action in response to an attitude object. The conation or action dictating the purchase intention, is largely a result of the first two components (Schiffman and Wisenblit, 2015).





Once the brand attitude drives the consumer to purchase the product, this tricomponent process repeats itself and can be observed in the consumer's decision of repurchase or alternative search. Hence, it is a cyclical process.

#### 2.4.1.2 The Attitude-towards-object model (A multi-attribute model).

Martin Fishbein attempted to better explain attitude through his multi-attribute model, which was, overtime, developed into better and specific models like the attitude-towards-object model. The attitude-towards-object model emphasizes that, brand attitude is a function of the existence or non-existence of certain attributes and how important these attributes are to the consumer (Ramdhani, Alamanda and Sudrajat, 2012). Put simply, consumers usually view those brands favourably, which perform satisfactorily on the attributes that are important to them (Fishbein, 1967; Fishbein, 1963).

The following equation is used for depiction of this model:

$$A_0 = \sum_{i=1}^n b_i e_i$$

Where, " $A_0$ " is the overall attitude towards the object,

" $b_i$ " is the strength of belief that attribute 'i' is present in the object,

" $e_i$ " is the evaluation of attribute 'i' and

"n" is the number of beliefs relevant.

## 2.4.1.3 The elaboration likelihood model (ELM).

The elaboration likelihood model explains how a change can be brought about in attitudes (Petty and Cacioppo, 1986). The ELM suggests that such change could be through any one of the two means of persuasion – the central route or the peripheral route, depending upon the level of involvement (Kotler and Keller, 2016).

Amid the central route, attitude change will occur from thoughtful consideration of information, highlighting the merits of product under consideration. A high-involvement purchase is likely to require a high level of elaboration and cognition (Kotler and Keller, 2016). With consumer focusing on the central product information, the resultant attitude change is likely to be long-term and predictive of behaviour (Petty and Cacioppo, 1986). On the other hand, via the peripheral route, attitude change results from simple inferences made by the consumer about the brand and its associated cues. Such cues usually are unrelated to the product under evaluation. Thus, involving a low level of elaboration (Kotler and Keller, 2016).

In other words, the evaluation made by a consumer would be extensive if the purchase is very relevant, while the evaluation would be limited if the purchase holds little relevance (Schiffman and Wisenblit, 2015).

# 2.5 Fast Moving Consumer Goods (FMCG) market.

Due to lack of exact definitions and explanations, disparities can be observed between the general use and the conceptual explanation of FMCG (Broadbent, 2009). Usually, 'fast moving' refers to those goods that are bought by households frequently, the frequency being weekly or every few weeks. Such goods include nondurable goods like packaged groceries, toiletries and other consumables. FMCG is also referred to as consumer-packaged goods (CPG) in certain parts of the world (Broadbent, 2009). With the focus of the modern-day business studies shifting towards the Facebooks and the Googles of the world, the FMCG business is being looked as an outdated concept gathering dust in the aisles of brick and mortar stores (Thain, 2014). Yet, from a revenue perspective, both industries seem to have neck to neck contest. Further, FMCGs could be said to be the driver of all the online advertising on Google and Facebook. Slowly and steadily, FMCGs have become part of people's everyday life and this fixed attachment makes it a vital market area (Thain, 2014).

## 2.5.1 The Indian FMCG market.

With a GDP of about US\$2.94 trillion, India is one of the largest economies of the world (Bajpai, 2020). The fourth largest sector in this economy is the FMCG sector (IBEF, 2020). This market grew at 13.8% in 2018 to reach a revenue of US\$ 52.75 billion (IBEF, 2020).

With an estimated growth of 9-10% and a CAGR of 23.15%, the revenue for 2020 is expected to reach US\$ 103.70 billion (IBEF, 2020). Household and personal care was the largest segment of the Indian FMCG market, accounting for the 50% of the sector. While food & beverages (f & b) and healthcare accounted for the remaining 19% and 31% respectively (IBEF, 2020).

Further analysis of the market to understand the forces driving the Indian FMCG industry is represented below.



Figure 2: Five force analysis (Adapted from IBEF, 2018)

The Indian FMCG market is highly fragmented. With multiple brands present in the market and low product differentiation across those brands, the potential

impact/threat from substitutes is high (IBEF, 2018). The bargaining power possessed by buyers is high as the switching costs are negligible and the alternatives available are similar. The key local suppliers are fragmented and the FMCGs usually dictate the price, thereby indicating the power possessed by the suppliers. The requirement of huge investments for promotion and distribution keeps the threat from new entrants at a moderate level. Further, due to price wars and a highly fragmented market, the competitive rivalry is high (IBEF, 2018).

### 2.5.2 Major players in the Indian FMCG market.

Taking into account the Indian FMCG market, the market capitalization and revenue of companies that trade on the stock exchanges of the country have been considered (Chauhan *et al.*, 2019). With a market capitalization of over US\$ 20 Billion, these companies occupy a dominant position with an ability to influence the market proceedings. Their position and success in the market warrants further investigation to better understand the market.

### Hindustan Unilever Limited (HUL).

The Indian subsidiary of British multinational Unilever PLC, HUL is considered to be one of the oldest and largest companies in the Indian FMCG market with presence across all consumer product categories (MarketLine, 2020; Poonamalle, 2011). Employing over 18,000 people across its business units, its brand equity is unrivalled. With deep local roots, it is widely recognised by consumers. The company is considered a role model for its efforts of harmonizing public concern with its profit targets (Poonamalle, 2011).

#### Procter and Gamble (P&G).

P&G India is considered to be one of the fastest growing FMCG companies in India (Chauhan et al., 2019). The company controls more than 50% of the market in certain product categories like shaving products and sanitary products, more than a quarter in the shampoo and laundry markets (Malviya, 2019). Such market leaderships are a direct result of its enhanced product propositions and continuous innovations. Its innovative approach could also be observed in its efforts to ensure sustainable

development. The Ohio based global consumer product giant considers India an important hub for innovations (Malviya, 2019).

#### <u>Nestle India.</u>

The Indian subsidiary of the international giant Nestle S.A., Nestle India Limited occupies significant market in the food and beverage consumer segment (MarketLine, 2019). With various exceptional manufacturing operations and branches across India, the products manufactured are also exported to various countries. Nestle's ideology of 'creating shared value' drives many of its policies in the manufacturing and marketing (MarketLine, 2019; Singh *et al.*, 2016).

## 2.5.3 FMCG and Brand.

The principal premise of the FMCG ideology triggers two important consequences. One that FMCG goods are purchased frequently and to be bought frequently the goods have to be cheap (Broadbent, 2009). The other that, except the first time, the purchases are routine and automatic. These two consequences form the foundation of understanding the FMCG market which is explained exquisitely by Broadbent (2009).

FMCG products are usually cheap costing less than a few euros or dollars in most instances (Broadbent, 2009). This means that the margin on each FMCG unit is usually low and thus, a high sales volume is targeted for profits. To reach the volume targets, the advertised brand has to be purchased regularly by buyers (Ehrenberg, 1972). On the other hand, to alter prices for maintaining profits, the brand should have the ability to command price premium (Feldwick, 2002). Therefore, building brand loyalty and brand equity into the FMCG business model is essential for maintaining the cheap nature of products (Broadbent, 2009).

From the view point of a consumer, the initial or the first buy of a FMCG brand is similar to first of many regular journeys that are to follow (Broadbent, 2009). As it happens with regular journeys, the routine becomes almost automatic and same happens with familiar FMCG brands. The sheer idea of evaluating every alternative brand before such a purchase is appalling and as a result, buyers usually go for familiar brands (Schwartz, 2004). Thus, FMCGs have to ensure that their brand building activities not only induce the initial purchase but also generate repeat purchases (Broadbent, 2009).

## 2.6 CSR and consumer.

Over the past decade, corporate social responsibility (CSR) has become an important area of interest for consumers (Maignan, 2001). The rising interest could be attributed to two key reasons. One being the increased scrutiny, by the consumers, of companies engaging in socially irresponsible behaviour through boycotts and advocate groups (Snider, Paul and Martin, 2003). Other being its response, the increasing contribution to CSR by companies and its communication (Snider *et al.*, 2003). The growing attention compels us to understand its impact on the consumer and for the same many studies and experiments have already been conducted (e.g., Mohr and Webb, 2005; Maignan, 2001).

However, as highlighted by Oberseder, Schlegelmilch and Gruber (2011), the connection between CSR and consumer behaviour remains an "unresolved paradox". While consumers desire more CSR engagement from companies, the role of CSR on the purchase intent of consumer could be classified as limited, from the existing literature (Oberseder *et al.*, 2011).

### 2.6.1 CSR awareness.

The awareness of a company's CSR activities among the consumers and the buying decisions of such consumers are positively-linked (Lee and Shin, 2009). However, a major part of literature assumes the existence of this awareness or artificially induces such awareness (Sen and Bhattacharya, 2001). This creates a distortion when the understanding from such studies are exercised in reality, as the awareness is usually limited. As the concept of CSR is multifaceted and extensive, the activities undertaken by companies on this front may be difficult for the consumers to understand and act upon (Mohr *et al.*, 2001).

Although limited in the real setting, those aware, corroborated the findings by having a positive attitude in terms of the purchase intent (Bhattacharya and Sen, 2004). Thereby indicating that if companies are to reap benefits of this unintended tool of promotion, they have to work towards increasing the awareness levels of their CSR activities. A trustworthy and clear communication is required on the part of companies to make consumers aware of their socially responsible actions (Mohr and Webb, 2005). Mohr and Webb (2005) further suggest that this may be accomplished through green certificates, environmental labels etc.

### 2.6.2 Effect of CSR on consumer.

Traditionally, brands proposed better goods and service to win over customers (Chouthoy and Kazi, 2016). But now, brands are being perceived in roles of doing 'good' and giving back to their co-existing environment (Chouthoy and Kazi, 2016). An analysis of CSR and the capability of CSR to build consumer relations favouring companies, motivated by brand notions and drives linked to CSR, could be found in the work of Sen, Du and Bhattacharya (2016). With companies increasingly investing in CSR, the effort to understand CSR and its true meaning has gone up significantly. Based on studies conducted over the years, products that are socially responsible are more likely to get picked in controlled environment as well as in real life, indicating that CSR certainly affects the impulse for a product purchase (Sen *et al.*, 2016). Further, a very interesting observation made by both Sen *et al.* (2016) and Chouthoy & Kazi (2016), was the ability of firm to shield itself through CSR after a product calamity, by triggering an acuity that the crisis was due to a factor that was external.

Creation of a long-term relationship between the enterprise and the consumer as well as strengthening the consumers' identification with the brand, are a direct result of fulfilment of social responsibility (Wu and Lin, 2014; Lee *et al.*, 2011). A continuing commitment to CSR is more likely to result in the generation of a positive corporate image for the enterprise (Mohr and Webb, 2005). Further, fulfilment of social responsibility is likely to generate a positive consumer value perception in turn leading to a greater consumer satisfaction (Matin, Ruiz and Rubio, 2009).

Past research concerned with CSR and luxury brand/product perception appeared to suggest that luxury consumer's decision making was apparently unaffected by CSR initiatives (Davies *et al.*, 2012; Griskevicius *et al.*, 2010); in fact, one study found that CSR could negatively affect luxury consumer's brand perception (Achabou and Dekhili, 2013). However, despite previous findings, sufficient evidence is available to

indicate a compatibility between CSR and luxury branding (e.g., Amatulli *et al.*, 2018; Janssen *et al.*, 2014).

### 2.6.3 Consumer perception of CSR motives.

While companies may have their own motives to engage in CSR, understanding the consumer perception of company's motives is essential. This is because such perception shapes consumers' response (Vlachos *et al.*, 2009). In relation to this, Ellen, Webb and Mohr (2006) identified three key attributions - self-centred, other-centred and win-win. Self-centred attribution signifies that consumers perceive company's CSR engagement as a strategic (for instance, to enhance profits); other-centred signifies that, in consumers' opinion, company considers CSR as moral duty and responsibility. While the common ground, which is perceived by many consumers as the ideal scenario for CSR engagement, is a mixture of strategic and morally-driven attributions (i.e. win-win) (Ellen *et al.*, 2006).

The reflection being that, a socially motivated CSR program is likely to have a positive consumer perception, while a profit motivated one is likely to have a negative perception (Becker-Olsen, Cudmore and Hill, 2006). Vlachos *et al.* (2009) make a similar observation, showing that a morally-driven engagement has a positive response, while a strategically-driven has a negative or neutral response.

## 2.7 CSR in the Indian context.

With the global evolution and growth of the CSR concept, emerging economies like India are also experiencing a growing number of organizations engaging in CSR activities (Shiva Kumar and Satyanarayana, 2019). Historically, Indian businesses have been consistently involved in the social causes as part of nation building (Gautam and Singh, 2010). As CSR was traditionally a voluntary act, the performance was neither measure nor documented. However, in recent times there has been a growing realization to improve the immediate environment by contributing to global social activities. The globally accepted reality of socially responsible brands being favoured and preferred by consumer, has driven the rise in attention towards CSR in India (Gautam and Singh, 2010). One unique and key feature in the Indian CSR context is the state mandated CSR spending (Jammulamadaka, 2018). A change made by the Companies act, 2013 made it mandatory for certain companies to spend 2% of their profits on CSR. The idea was to emphasize corporate philanthropy and to curb the usage of strategic CSR (Gupta and Gupta, 2019). As a result, the number of companies engaging in CSR has increased significantly. With such increase, the challenges of measuring, replicating and accelerating CSR are also growing (Gupta and Gupta, 2019). Thus, indicating that the concept of CSR has significantly evolved in the past few years.

### 2.7.1 CSR initiatives.

Far from becoming a disincentive, Indian FMCGs have embraced the corporate social responsibility assigned to them and have briskly incorporated CSR into their brand communications. The companies are increasingly diversifying their CSR efforts by giving attention to every possible CSR cause, be it health, sanitation, education and the likes.

Likewise, Hindustan Unilever (HUL), one of the leading players in the Indian FMCG market, aims its CSR efforts towards sustainability (HUL, 2019). With education, livelihood enhancement and healthcare being the areas in which its CSR efforts are concentrated. The most widely recognized initiative being 'Project Shakti' (power), which educates, trains and subsequently enables rural women to deal in HUL products for attaining financial independence. Apart from this, DTA, Prabhat (dawn) are some of the other programs promoting healthcare and community development (HUL, 2019).

While another giant, P&G has adopted initiatives true to its global CSR ideology of "Live. Learn. Thrive" (P&G, 2019). "Shiksha" (education) being its flagship programme based on the same ideals in India. The programme focuses on providing underprivileged children with access to education. P&G has smartly linked this scheme to its brand and products, thereby giving consumers a feeling of direct contribution (P&G, 2019).

A key contributor when CSR in the Indian FMCG sector is looked at, is an Indian company - Dabur India limited. Project 'Desert bloom' initiated for water

conservation and management, has helped solve the problem of water scarcity across various regions of the country (Dabur (a), 2018). Another project "7 steps towards dignity" focuses on ensuring good sanitation for women through construction of appropriate facilities (Dabur (b), 2018). Its initiatives have received large support from public and communities alike and have propelled its image as a corporation (Dabur (b), 2018).

### 2.7.2 CSR and the Indian consumer.

Studies about CSR under this context have been few and far between (Gupta and Wadera, 2019). However, the literature available indicates similar results to those done globally i.e. a positive relation between the two factors. Similarly, Planken, Sahu and Nickerson (2010), observed that an Indian consumer's buying behaviour is likely to be positively influenced by a CSR-based marketing engagement. In another study, the CSR awareness among the Indian consumers was found to be greater than their American counterparts (Gupta, 2011). Although another study did corroborate the positive influence of CSR on purchase intent, it did not support the high awareness assertion (Gupta and Hodges, 2012). However, the awareness of CSR as a concept among consumers was found to be high in most studies (Gupta and Wadera, 2019). Subsequently, the impact of any CSR initiative is dependent on the levels of CSR awareness (Lee and Shin, 2010).

## 2.8 Conclusion.

The review highlights the literature available on CSR and its effects, which is abundant but gaps still exist in assessing and understanding other variables of a brand's CSR initiatives, affecting the attitude towards the brand.

With marketing coming under heavy criticism in recent times, the identification of CSR as a tool to influence consumers in a way not considered negative, has potential. However, a lack of research in the current literature, connecting these dots, is what eludes organizations to explore CSR and its consequent ability to influence consumer brand attitudes. Based on the information garnered above, a gap in existing literature can be identified, which is intended to be closed by exploring CSR and its resultant impact on brand attitude in the Indian FMCG context, through a primary research.

# Chapter 3: Methodology.

# 3.1 Introduction.

Saunders, Lewis and Thornhill (2012) describe research as a systematic act, undertaken to find out things, that will increase knowledge. As part of this systematic act, the methodology could be viewed as well-equipped toolboxes carrying the essential tools (i.e. methods) (Moses and Knutsen, 2019). Accordingly, this chapter intends to identify the toolbox for drawing the desired tools. Further, the philosophical argument behind selection of every tool i.e. method is presented. Apart from this, the methodology, population, sample selection, ethical consideration and concurrent analyses are addressed in this part of research.

## 3.2 Aims and objectives.

The research intends to provide insights into the extent of impact a brand's CSR program, has on its consumers' attitudes. To gain more understanding from a research, it is important that the aim should be narrow (Saunders *et al.*, 2012). Hence, the same is looked at within the context of the Indian FMCG market by gathering sufficient and appropriate data.

To fulfil the aim, setting the objectives of research in important. The idea here is to develop the objectives by effectively breaking down the primary aim of the research, as suggested by Cooper and Schindler (2011). Once the objectives are specifically and precisely stated, the path for achieving the targets of research become clear.

An attempt to argue the role of brand attitude, as a key metric in evaluating the performance of CSR, has been made in this research. In response to CSR communication, people make different cognitions (attributions) (Mar Garcia-De los Salmones and Perez, 2017). A brand personality characterized through CSR is based somewhat, on altruistic values (Rivera, Bigne and Curras-Perez, 2016). Based on the above, it is important to identify the factors in a CSR initiative that tempt the consumers to take notice. Thus, leading us to our first research objective:

Research objective 1: To explore the differentiating factors of a CSR initiative that attracts the attention of a wider audience.

Next, the focus of the research shifts to assess the impact of CSR on consumers' brand attitude by affecting consumer's decision. Previous research has focused on this factor considering the perspective of luxury goods (Amatulli *et al.*, 2018). Considering the same, we aim to identify the impact of CSR on the brand attitude towards FMCG products, which include certain luxury products. Leading to our second research objective:

Research Objective 2: To assess the changes, if any, that occur in consumers' brand attitude, subsequent to obtaining knowledge about a company/product's CSR initiatives.

Based on the information garnered above, the research aims to fill the gap connecting CSR, brand attitude and FMCG products.

## 3.3 Proposed research methodology.

The methodology is an overall strategy which outlines the path for undertaking research (Howell, 2013). The framework guiding this methodology was derived from the research onion elucidated by Saunders *et al.* (2012). As the research process moved ahead, each layer was peeled to obtain guidance for the next step.



Figure 3: The research onion (Saunders et al., 2012)

By the time the central point of the 'onion' (i.e. data collection and analysis) is reached, the methodology would have explained all the layers peeled off (i.e. choices taken) prior to it (Crotty, 1998).

## 3.4 Research paradigm and philosophy.

A research is guided by assumptions and such assumptions are a result of researcher's view of the world (Saunders *et al.*, 2012). These assumptions influence the philosophical choices. Saunders *et al.* (2012, p. 128) describe research philosophy as "an over-arching term relating to the development of knowledge and the nature of that knowledge". The philosophical position of a researcher and the possible ways of understanding research are closely related. Hence, a suitable research philosophy is vital for development of an appropriate research strategy.

However, the establishment of a paradigm prior to discussion of philosophy is considered important by some academics (Mayer, 2015). The understanding and sharing of problems among scientists are done through certain common set of beliefs and agreements, which is referred to as the research paradigm (Kuhn, 1962). In a similar disposition, Saunders *et al.* (2012) identifies three different paradigms concerning research philosophies, namely epistemology, ontology and axiology, all representing specific approaches. Epistemology refers to what in researcher's opinion will be considered as acceptable knowledge. While, Ontology refers to how the researcher views reality or the nature of being. Whereas, Axiology refers to researcher's belief about the nature or role of values in research.

The research here follows an epistemological paradigm through the study of knowledge, where the motive is to understand the impact of CSR on developing brand attitudes through the consideration of acceptable knowledge. Further, data collected through questionnaires about people's view, was considered as acceptable knowledge.

Once a paradigm is established, the philosophical choices are simplified. As the outer layer of the figure indicates, Saunders *et al.* (2012) underpin four major philosophical choices for undertaking research viz. positivism, interpretivism, realism and pragmatism. The difference between each being the view on acceptable knowledge.

With positivism relying on observable phenomena as acceptable knowledge, interpretivism trusting subjective and social phenomena, realism focusing on accurate interpretation of observable phenomena and pragmatism following any one or combination of above as acceptable knowledge (Saunders *et al.*, 2012).

Credible data resulting from observable phenomena was considered as acceptable knowledge under this research. Hence, the position adopted in the research was of positivism. A positivist researcher works with an "observable social reality" (Remenyi *et al.*, 1998). As a result, positivism could be considered as an epistemological position which advocates the study of social reality through use of methods of natural sciences (Bryman and Bell, 2011). Knowledge for the research was obtained by gathering facts, guided by the principle of inductivism. Emphasis was placed on quantitative data for the resultant statistical analysis, compiled through the use of questionnaires. Epistemological ideology and the ensuing positivism combined to establish causality and generalization of the phenomena observed by the researcher (Saunders *et al.*, 2012; Bryman and Bell, 2011).

## 3.5 Research approach.

Collection, analysis and interpretation of data and facts is done in accordance with well-defined procedure, collectively known as research approach. This approach should be consistent with the research objectives. Depending on the nature of research, an inductive approach or a deductive approach are the alternative prominent logics that are widely suggested and applied (Silverman, 2016).

An inductive approach is concerned with development of new theory and model for application, resulting from the observation of data already collected (Frels and Onwuegbuzie, 2013). While, a deductive approach involves testing the existing theories and concepts relevant to study, through the use of a specifically designed research strategy (Saunders *et al.*, 2012). From a theoretical perspective, induction involves theory building whereas deduction involves theory verification or falsification (Saunders *et al.*, 2012).

A deductive approach was employed for this research. The theories suggested in the literature review served as the starting point of the path that was followed. Based on

these theories, the research objectives were developed. This was subsequently followed by the development of data collection methods for accumulation of data, which was then tested statistically for verification. The results are then used to evaluate propositions and reach conclusions. Thus, through the use of a deductive approach, application of existing theoretical concepts for undertaking research is facilitated (Saunders *et al.*, 2012). Further, the desire to use quantitative data justifies the use of deductive approach (Saunders *et al.*, 2012).

Moving ahead, selection of a nature further narrows down the research by making an attempt to reach the exact purpose of research. In relation to this, Saunders *et al.* (2012), identify three different natures of study. Exploratory research, true to its name, explores the topic on-hand by asking new questions to develop a better understanding. While descriptive research uses data collection process to understand the behaviour of target population. Whereas explanatory research is causal and tries to explain the relation among variables (Saunders *et al.*, 2012). This dissertation made use of descriptive research as the target here was to understand the behaviour and attitudes of the targeted population. This was achieved through collection of data to describe, explain and validate the findings.

## 3.6 Research strategy.

The way in which the researcher intends to answer the research question is indicated by research strategy (Saunders *et al.*, 2012). Research strategy links the philosophical position to the appropriate data collection method and analysis technique, methodologically (Denzin and Lincoln, 2005). Therefore, it could be said that the chosen philosophy and approach influence the strategy. As indicated by the strategy layer of the research onion, various strategies have been identified based on different research traditions (Saunders *et al.*, 2012). These include experiment, survey, case study, ethnography, grounded theory, narrative inquiry, archival and action research.

The research adopted a survey strategy for data collection. The philosophy of positivism blended with the deductive approach of quantitative methods, led the researcher to the survey strategy which was suitable for the research. The use of this

strategy enabled the researcher to have a greater control over research process and further permitted to generate findings that represented total population, through the use of sampling (Saunders *et al.*, 2012). Further, when it comes to data collection from particularly large groups, as is the case in this research with FMCG consumers, surveys represent an efficient route.

Additionally, as hinted by previous sections, the research choice adopted was that of mono method. As quantitative method was the single or the mono-method that was used for data gathering and consequent analysis in this dissertation (Saunders *et al.*, 2012).

### 3.6.1 Time horizon.

The time horizon over which the research is to be conducted is essential to the strategy of the research. Two types of studies viz – cross-sectional and longitudinal, signify the time horizon they make use of. Cross-sectional studies are kind of 'snapshots' and represent phenomena at a particular point of time, whereas longitudinal studies are kind of 'diaries' and study phenomena over a period of time to track the changes (Saunders *et al.*, 2012).

The given time frame for this research, more or less, meant that cross-sectional study was the only option that could be adopted. Similarly, most academic research is confined to cross-sectional time horizon. Accordingly, to obtain a snapshot, the data collection methods were deployed in the time frame of a week. This static placement meant that tracking of changes was not possible.

## 3.7 Data collection.

Taking into account the methodology opted, quantitative research approach was deployed for data collection. This decision was driven by the ease and efficiency with which knowledge can be inferred from large volume of quantitative data in comparison to qualitative approach. In view of the fact that a cause-effect relationship was studied, adequate and measurable data was required to fulfil the objectives, making quantitative approach a good fit (Moses and Knutsen, 2019). The quantitative method often facilitates the compilation of a much wider dataset through a broader study, which would render the results more reliable, which in turn would permit the researcher to make generalizations based on findings.

Validity and reliability were the two key variables to be considered here. Validity is concerned with ensuring what was intended to be measured, is measured exactly. While, reliability is concerned with findings being consistent (Blumberg, Cooper and Schindler, 2011). By ensuring that design of the study was close to a real-world setting, validity was deemed to be established and the findings believed to be generalizable. Further, a clear description of the method followed was furnished, thereby allowing a replication of the adopted approach. Such replication is bound to produce same results as reliability was ensured. Furthermore, the researcher and the influence of researcher's interpretation were decoupled to a certain extent by ensuring reliability and validity.

### 3.7.1 Quantitative primary data collection.

Although structured observations and structured interviews are considered as alternative data collection methods under the survey strategy, questionnaire remains the most prominent (Saunders *et al.*, 2012). The research followed this prominently used technique of survey questionnaire for data collection, generally understood as a predetermined set of questions posed in the same order to generate response from different people (DeVaus, 2002). These questionnaires could either be interviewer-completed (e.g. telephone questionnaires) or self-completed (e.g. web-based questionnaires), depending upon the amount of contact between the researcher and the respondents (Saunders *et al.*, 2012).

A self-completed, web-based questionnaire was used for the purpose of this dissertation. Since this research sought to find information regarding a certain proportion of chosen population, statistical & quantifiable data was required and the same was obtained through the use of a standardised questionnaire. The survey questionnaire is widely used across different sectors for assessing attitudes and generating feedback particularly from end-users or consumers (Saunders *et al.*, 2012). This made it an appropriate choice for the present research as the focus here was on consumers' brand attitudes. Further, questionnaires inherently equip the researcher with the ability to gather large volume of data and that too with a

negligible level of distortion, making it a highly favourable data collection method (Saunders *et al.*, 2012). The use of web-based form i.e. online questionnaire was made to overcome two major constraints - time and large data sample.

Well-designed questions are the backbone of every successful research (Greener and Martelli, 2018), and the design is determined by the data required. Accordingly, the researcher decided on the questions that were closed-ended allowing the respondents only a limited number to alternatives to answer from (Greener and Martelli, 2018). By their very nature, closed-ended questions are easier and quicker to answer (Bryman and Bell, 2011). Further, the pre-determined aim of having low distortion is also achieved through the use of such questions.

An initial pilot study was carried out by sending the questionnaire to a test group of 12 individuals to determine the accuracy, consistency and to address the issues that are likely to arise, consistent with the advice of Saunders *et al.* (2012). The pilot consisted of 18 questions, consisting of 2 demographic questions, the crux of, 12 brand attitude questions and 4 CSR factor questions. Based on the results of the pilot certain changes were made including deletion of a couple of questions and addition of probing questions to guide the respondent in appropriate direction.

The final survey questionnaire for this research consisted of a total of twenty-four questions. These were divided into five parts – consent, probing questions, brand attitude, factors and demographics. The second and the last part(s) were general questions and as such framed by the researcher, except two questions in second part adopted from Tran, Le and Huynh (2017). Whereas the crux of the questionnaire was adopted from Chouthoy and Kazi (2016) (third part, 11 questions) and Perez and Del Bosque (2013) (fourth part, 3 questions). A five-point Likert scale (1-strongly disagree, 2-disagree, 3-neither agree nor disagree, 4-agree, 5-strongly agree) was used for the second and third part. For the demographic and probing questions, multiple choices were provided to choose from.

### 3.7.2 Sample.

Budget and time constraints coupled with the apparent impracticability involved in surveying entire population, compel the researcher to use the only valid alternative
of sampling (Saunder *et al.*, 2012). The idea being that elements selected through sampling would help researcher to draw conclusions in relation to the entire population (Cooper and Schindler, 2011). Saunders *et al.* (2012), specify two different sampling techniques available – probability sampling and non-probability sampling. Under probability sampling every unit of population has an equal chance of being selected, whereas under non-probability sampling the selection is random & some units might have a higher chance of getting selected (Greener and Martelli, 2018).

The research made use of non-probability sampling because the probability of a unit's selection was not known. Moreover, initially addressed budget and time constraints made it impracticable to use probability methods. Within non-probability sampling, the haphazard route was adopted with sample selection based on convenience (Saunders *et al.*, 2012). As the name indicates, the samples were selected at the convenience of the researcher, i.e. allowing the freedom of selection (Cooper and Schindler, 2011). Additionally, snowball sampling was put into place by briefing the respondents to pass on the questionnaire among their colleagues. The use of convenience and snowball sampling assisted the researcher to overcome the constraints faced and quicken the process of data collection.

A sample of regular retail shoppers across different regions and age groups was targeted. Such participants were deemed appropriate for the research as they were adults, having market awareness and purchasing power. The questionnaires were distributed to respondents through private message which contained the link to the online survey, created through Google forms. The researcher sought help of the initial respondents for generating wider distribution through use of friends and colleagues to the reach the targeted samples. The link was kept open for responses for a period of seven days/a week, from 29th July to 4th August. The questionnaire received a total of eighty-nine responses over the period it was kept open.

#### 3.7.3 Analysing quantitative data.

To be productive to the research, the collected 'raw' data should be useful and usefulness can only be established after analysis (Saunders *et al.*, 2012). This research made use of mix of statistical tools for the analysis which included Google analytics, MS Excel and IBM SPSS. The resultant findings were represented through the use of bar charts and pie charts. The probing questions were then put to use for the initial analysis.

Subsequently, the responses to key parts of the questionnaire i.e. second and third, were tested for internal reliability through the use of Cronbach's alpha, one of the most commonly used measures (Bryman and Bell, 2011). This is done through measuring the consistency of responses to a scale, to comprehend that they are measuring the same thing. The alpha ranges between 0 and 1 indicating no reliability and perfect internal reliability respectively (Saunders *et al.*, 2012). As an ordinarily accepted rule, an alpha in the range of 0.6 to 0.7 is indicative of an acceptable level of reliability, whereas an alpha beyond 0.8 is considered to have a very good level of reliability (Uraschi, Horodnic and Zait, 2015; Hulin, Netemeyer, and Cudeck, 2001).

Lastly, the findings, the graphs resulting from it, initial analysis and reliability analysis were all congregated based on the objectives. The resulting analysis moved the research forward towards its conclusion.

#### 3.8 Ethical issues.

The practice of research brings with it many dilemmas and moral choices which have to be anticipated and dealt with. To deal with the same, appropriate ethical ways have to identified (Greener and Martelli, 2019). Thus, any research involving or dealing with human subjects, has to be governed by good ethical practices. By safeguarding the privacy and confidentiality of identity and data, the researcher ensures anonymity and confidentiality of participants (Quinlan, 2011).

All the ethical guidelines and practices specified by the National College of Ireland were carefully considered and followed. The research made use of an online survey for quantitative data collection. To ensure the safety of data, no names were documented. The purpose of the study was clearly stated and the participants' consents were obtained. The participants were made aware of their right to withdraw at any given stage. The resultant data was only accessible to the researcher and used for the sole purpose of this dissertation. Further, principles of 'netiquette' were respected since the research was internet-mediated (Hewson, 2003).

Furthermore, an 'ethical review application form' was completed and submitted to the researcher to the National College of Ireland to ensure good ethical practice.

#### 3.9 Limitations to research.

A limitation could be exemplified as any "weakness or deficiency" in the research (Collis and Hussey, 2014). As Silverman (2001) emphasizes, 'there is no correct or incorrect methodology to follow', as every research is bound to have certain limitations and the present research is no different.

The data collected through the use of questionnaires is by and large perceived to be true & honest representation for an accurate analysis. However, analysis of inaccurate data, might limit the correctness of findings generated from such analysis. The use of non-probability method for sample selection meant that generalizability on statistical grounds was not justifiable (Saunders *et al.*, 2012). Further, the flaws of convenience sampling could possibly cloud the resultant conclusions, signifying that conclusions might be incomplete. In addition to this, the number of responses received is another limitation as, the larger the sample the better the resulting analysis would be.

Due to lack of any precise study in relation to the research topic, the researcher was unable to identify and adopt a single survey that would be fit for the research. Thus, driving the researcher to build the survey questionnaire by amalgamating three different questionnaires. Regardless of the limitations, the researcher believes that the chosen methodology, methods and the data collected can drive the research towards attainment of its objectives.

# Chapter 4: Findings.

## 4.1 Introduction.

This section of the research presents the findings of the quantitative data collection process, as specified in the previous methodology chapter. An online questionnaire created and circulated by the use of Google forms (See appendix) was used for this process. The questionnaire contained twenty-four questions and were based on the objectives of the research. The questions were structured as followed: Q1: For consent, Q2-Q6: Probing questions to understand knowledge, Q7-Q17: CSR and brand attitude, Q18-Q20: CSR and differentiating factors, Q21-Q24: Demographics. The survey questionnaire received a total of 89 responses, over the period it was kept open. The data resulting from these responses is presented through the use of graphical, numerical and tabular techniques in this part. On the basis of these findings, the next part then goes on to discuss and analyse the data.

The initial question recorded the consent of the respondents. All the respondents voluntarily agreed to be a part of this research. With the consent recorded, the respondents moved to the answer subsequent parts of the questionnaire.

## 4.2 CSR knowledge.

The findings from the second part of the questionnaire are presented here. Probing questions were used to understand the knowledge possessed by the respondents in relation to CSR. Based on the responses to these questions, the researcher decided whether the respondents possessed appropriate knowledge to fittingly answer the next parts of the questionnaire.



Q2. Are you aware of the Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) concept of business?

This was a straightforward question and the first step to understand CSR awareness. With 89.9% i.e. 80 respondents saying 'yes', majority indicated that they were aware of the CSR concept. However, 10.1% i.e. 9 respondents said that they are not aware of this concept.

Q3. Which statement best reflects your opinion?



This question explored what, in the respondent's opinion, CSR meant by giving them four alternatives to choose from. Most respondents held the opinion that CSR was a company's responsibility towards the society. With 80 (89.9%) respondents selecting the same, while 5 (5.6%) holding a belief that CSR is maximization of profits, 3 (3.4%) believing that CSR is a tax responsibility and a single respondent (1.1%) considering none of the given alternatives as his opinion of CSR.

Q4. How often, would you say, you buy an FMCG product (for instance: packaged foods, groceries, cosmetics, chocolates, etc.)



The question here intended to explore the respondent's involvement or purchase frequency of FMCG products. The results were somewhat evenly distributed. 27 (30.3%) respondents indicated their purchases being daily, 23 (25.8%) indicated buying FMCG products more than twice a week, 20 (22.5%) respondents having once

a week purchase, 14 (15.7%) saying that they buy FMCG products more than twice a week and the remaining 5 (5.6%) respondents occasionally being involved with purchase of FMCG products.



Q5. Do you know FMCG companies are involved in CSR activities?

Here, the ideas in previously asked questions were merged to narrow down on the awareness about FMCG sectors involvement in CSR activities. About 79 (88.8%) respondents were aware of the FMCG companies' involvement in CSR, while 10 (11.2%) respondents lacked knowledge about such initiatives or involvements of FMCG companies.

Q6. Which of the below-mentioned FMCG company's CSR initiatives are you aware of? (Select the 3 you are most aware of).



To get a better understanding of attentiveness towards CSR programs of FMCG companies, this question was designed. Respondents were asked to select the companies that they could identify as being involved in CSR. HUL's CSR programs seemed to have the largest reach with 69 (77.5%) respondents being aware of them.

ITC with 50 (56.2%) and P&G with 37 (41.6%) responses seemed to have a good reach with their CSR programs.

### 4.3 CSR and brand attitude

Findings from the third part of the questionnaire are presented in this section. Questions were designed to understand the influence of CSR on consumers' brand attitude, which is in sync with the second research objective. The use of a 5-point Likert scale was made in this section with the following indications 1-strongly disagree, 2-disagree, 3-neither agree nor disagree, 4-agree, 5-strongly agree.

Q7. My respect for brands that do CSR activities grows every time I hear of their efforts in that direction.



This question scrutinized the basic attitude and admiration consumers have for brands that are engaging in CSR. With 76 (85.4%) respondents strongly agreeing/agreeing, majority indicated a higher respect for brands that practice CSR. Comparatively, only 5 (5.6%) respondents disagreed with the statement, while 8 (9%) respondents neither agreed nor disagreed.

Q8. I can distinguish brands with CSR activities from other competing brands.



This question is imperative to understanding brand attitude towards CSR, it explores whether a consumer can tell a CSR performing brand from a non-performing one. More than half the respondents strongly agreed/agreed (47 responses, 52.8%) that they could make such distinction. While 27 (30.3%) neither agreed nor disagreed with the statement. Besides, 15 (16.9%) respondents disagreed/strongly disagreed and were of the opinion that they could not distinguish such brands.

Q9. I believe brands (like Tata Tea, ITC Ltd, Surf, Whisper, Horlicks and Nestle) that practice CSR are concerned about the best interest of society and contribute to the well-being of its people.



The question intended to understand whether participants believed that a brand performing CSR was really concerned about the society. 62 (69.6%) agreed/strongly agreed to having such belief. 15 (16.9%) participants neither agreed nor disagreed to holding such belief. Comparatively, 12 (13.5%) participants did not believe that CSR practicing companies had such concerns by disagreeing/strongly disagreeing.

Q10. CSR activities raise the profile of a brand in consumers' minds.



The mental effect that exposure to CSR activities has on consumers' attitude was examined through the use of this question. With about 79 (88.8%) respondents

agreeing/strongly agreeing, a high majority accepted this impression of CSR. As regards the same, 8 (9%) if the responses neither agreed nor disagreed. Lastly, only 2 (2.2%) respondents were in disagreement/strong disagreement.

Q11. I believe the brands (like Tata Tea, ITC Ltd, Surf, Whisper, Horlicks and Nestle) that practice CSR offer and market quality products and services.



Through the use of this question, the intention was to understand consumers' attitudes towards the products and services of brands that practiced CSR. A total of 66 (74.1%) contributors saw the products and services of such brands as quality by agreeing/strongly agreeing. While 16 (18%) neither agreed nor disagreed to any such connection and the remaining 7 (7.9%) disagreed to CSR practicing brands being quality.





The intention with this question was to understand the relatedness between CSR, consumer and brand attitude. Vast majority could relate to brands with strong CSR performance, with 66 (74.1%) respondents agreeing/strongly agreeing to the same. Comparatively, 16 (18%) neither agreed nor disagreed to such relation and 7 (7.8%) disagreed/strongly disagreed that they could relate to such brands.





This question gauged the impact on attitude from the act of CSR-informed purchase. A bulk of respondents i.e. 67 (75.3%) said they experienced pleasure in such purchase (agreed/strongly agreed). Whereas, 13 (14.6%) neither agreed nor disagreed to any such emotion. Lastly, 9 (10.1%) respondents disagreed/strongly disagreed to having such sentiment.

Q14. I feel bad when people speak ill of brands (like Tata Tea, ITC Ltd, Surf, Whisper, Horlicks and Nestle), since they practice CSR sincerely.



The question assessed the emotional aspect of brand attitude. The results were almost evenly distributed. 35 (39.3%) respondents experienced discontent when bad was spoken about brands practicing CSR (agreed/strongly agreed), 29 (32.6%) were neutral i.e. neither agreed nor disagreed with the statement and 25 (28.1%) were not affected by others negative attitude towards the brand (disagreed/strongly disagreed).

Q15. I consider myself to be loyal to brands that practice CSR, since they are interested in doing more, than just making a profit by selling me a product.



This question sought to determine whether brand attitude resulting from CSR drives loyalty towards those brands. A total of 46 (51.7%) of the respondents agreed/strongly agreed to the thought of being loyal. Whereas, 26 (29.2%) neither agreed nor disagreed to this consideration. But, 17 (19.1%) of the respondents disagreed/strongly disagreed with the statement.

Q16. I will not buy other brands if a similar brand, which is associated with CSR activities, is available.



The above statement was enlisted to understand consumers' attitude towards purchase of similar brands with CSR being the only differentiating factor. A total of 36 (40.4%) respondents agreed/strongly agreed with the statement. On a similar level, 30 (33.7%) neither agreed nor disagreed with the statement. Lastly, 23 (25.8%) respondents disagreed/strongly disagreed with the statement.

Q17. I am willing to pay slightly more for a brand/product that practices CSR if I need to.



The question ascertained whether consumers would be willing to go the additional distance for brands that practiced CSR, to understand their attitude. Of the total respondents, 53 (59.5%) agreed/strongly agreed to be willing of going the distance, while 19 (21.3%) neither agreed nor disagreed about their willingness to do so. However, 17 (19.1%) respondents disagreed/strongly disagreed to have the willingness to pay more.

### 4.4 CSR and differentiating factors.

The findings presented in this section are from the fourth part of the questionnaire. The questions focused on understanding consumers opinion, on what would be considered as a good CSR exercise. This was examined by understanding consumers' perception of companies' CSR congruence. A similar 5-point Likert-scale was used in this part.

Q18. It makes sense to me that FMCG companies (like Nestle, P&G, HUL) carry out CSR activities.



This question assessed whether FMCG companies engaging in CSR made sense to consumers. Majority of the respondents were in agreement/strong agreement with this viewpoint (74, 83.1%). Except the fractional 3 (3.3%) in disagreement/strong

disagreement, 12 (13.5%) respondents neither agreed nor disagreed with the presented viewpoint.

Q19. I believe that carrying out CSR activities should be complementary to the FMCG company's core business.



Whether the idea of a company engaging in CSR activities that complement the existing business, would be seen as favourable or not. Significantly, 70 (78.6%) respondents strongly agreed/agreed with the idea. Besides, 11 (12.4%) respondents neither agreed nor disagreed and 8 (9%) disagreed/strongly disagreed with the idea of a company engaging in complementing CSR initiatives.

Q20. I believe that there should be a logical fit between the core business of a company and the CSR activities that it carries out.



This question probed whether a logical fit between a company's business and the CSR activities was required. The responses were majorly in agreement with 69 (77.5%) strongly agreeing/agreeing, 12(13.5%) neither agreeing nor disagreeing and 8 (6.7%) responses being to the contrary of the presented question.

#### 4.5 Demographics.

Findings from the last part of the questionnaire are presented here. The demographics relating to participant's age, gender, profession and income were gathered. It was ensured that, at every point, any details which disclosed identity of participants was not asked for. This section was purposely placed as the last part, to avoid any hesitations and yet if the participant did not feel comfortable sharing these details, the option of 'prefer not to say' was included.

Q21. What is your age?



With regards to age distribution, majority of the respondents belong to age group of 18-24 with 49 (55.1%) respondents. The second major age group was between 25-34 with 36 (40.4%) respondents. Further, both the age groups 35-44 and 45-54 had 2 (2.2%) respondents each.





Of the total respondents, 62 (69.7%) identified themselves as male while 27 (30.3%) identified themselves as female.

Q23. What is your occupation?



This question was designed to understand the professional background of the research participants. A drop-down list giving wide-ranging options was provided for selection. Accordingly, 41 (46.1%) participants disclosed that they were students, 31(34.8%) participants were in salaried employment, 11 (12.4%) were self-employed, 5(5.6%) looking for a job and a single participant chose not to disclose this detail.



Q24. Which of these describes your income last year?

This question was designed to understand the monetary background of the research participants. For the ease of understanding local currency (Indian rupee/INR) was used and the groupings were derived based on the Indian income tax slabs. Here 26 (29.2%) respondents preferred not to disclose and 23 (25.8%) had an income of less than Rs. 250,000. While 18 (20.2%) had an income in the 250,000-500,000 bracket, 14 (15.7%) were a part of the 500,000-750,000 bracket. Lastly, 5 (5.6%) respondents belonged to 750,000-1,000,000 slab and 3 (3.4%) had income more than Rs. 1,000,000

In terms of euros/€ (considering a rounded exchange rate of €1 = INR88) the alternatives would be, less than €2,840 or €2,841-€5,680 or €5,681-€8,520 or €8,521-€11,360 or more than €11,360.

With the findings presented, the next part then moves on to discussion of these findings and what it means in terms of research.

## Chapter 5: Discussion.

## 5.1 Introduction.

The purpose of this research was to understand the impact of CSR on developing brand attitudes in the FMCG market in India. Which specifically focused on two key topics, which lead to the objectives of the research. The discussion thus revolves around these two objectives. The findings from the previous chapter are evaluated to provide a critical view on the data collected, by making use of relevant literature.

A mix of different tools and techniques were adopted for analysis including MS Excel and IBM SPSS. Once the data was collected through the use of online survey via Google forms, it was extracted into the worksheet of MS excel. Through this extraction, all the data was organized into different cells of the worksheet and in a structure of rows and columns.

At this juncture, it was important to identify the part of data (or the responses) that could not be a part of further analysis, due to lack of topic knowledge. The probing questions from the first part of the questionnaire were used for such identification. This was done through the use of three questions i.e. Q2, Q3, Q5 and the use of MS Excel's filter tools. Once identified, that part of data was set aside.

In the first run, responses to Q2 were filtered. For the reason that, participants not aware of CSR, could not be deemed to have the required knowledge to answer further questions. Thus, all those responding to Q2 with 'no' were identified. The resulting 9 responses were set aside.

In the second run, responses to Q3 were filtered. As the researcher felt that the respondents' view of CSR was likely to impact the accuracy of their responses. Consequently, the responses opting for 'CSR is a tax responsibly', 'CSR is maximization of profit' and 'none of the above' were identified. The resulting 4 responses (of the remaining responses i.e. 89-9) were set aside.

In the third run, responses to Q5 were filtered. Since the study focused on FMCG market, a lack of knowledge about that market was likely to impact the consequent responses. According, all 'no' responses to Q5 were identified. The resulting 4

responses (of the remaining responses i.e. 89-9-4) were set aside. At the end of this exercise, a total of 72 responses were available. The discussion then moves to the next part.

#### 5.2 Research objective 1.

"To explore the differentiating factors of a CSR initiative that attracts the attention of a wider audience"

The above-mentioned objective intended to understand aspects enticing interest of consumers in the CSR initiatives of brands and corporates. The findings presented in section 4.3 – Q18, Q19, Q20, are concerned with this objective. The questions focused on the aspects and types of CSR initiatives to understand what people believed to be good CSR practice.

At first, the findings of this part were coded into the IBM SPSS, to measure the internal reliability through the use of Cronbach's alpha. The three-question scale of this part achieved a Cronbach's alpha value of 0.693 (when part of data was set aside i.e. N=72). On the other hand, the Cronbach's alpha value was 0.741 (when all the data was considered i.e. N=89) (See appendix). Thus, indicating an acceptable level of reliability in either case (Uraschi, Horodnic and Zait, 2015).

The mandatory nature of CSR in India, has led to a significant increase in investment being made into CSR activities. However, due to the mandatory aspect, the correctness and genuineness of these efforts are often questioned. Further, emergence of instances of greenwashing of various brands across India, have added to the scepticism of CSR. Thus, consumers nowadays are more evaluative of such initiatives and any inconsistency is likely to put off the consumers' interest.

At the outset, to attract and hold the interest of consumers, the CSR engagement of company should be justifiable. This can be better explained through the attribution theory. The attraction and consumer interest in CSR are likely to be positive, if the consumers' attribute a belief of genuineness and reasonability to company's CSR. With majority (83.1%\*, 88.9%\*\*) respondents agreeing/strongly agreeing that FMCG companies' CSR engagement makes sense, the finding is as expected and similar to that of Ellen *et al.* (2006) and Perez and Del Bosque (2013).

On the contrary, any inconsistencies between corporate goals and CSR could result in the CSR program being disregarded or lacking the required attention (Lafferty, Goldsmith and Hult, 2004). Such situation would arise when a company engages in an activity that has no connection to its existing businesses. The findings of this research also painted a similar picture, with a bulk (78.6%\*, 80.6%\*\*) of respondents agreeing/strongly agreeing to the belief that CSR activity and FMCG company's core business should complement each other.

Lastly, the level of association, dubbed as the 'fit', is another aspect considered important to CSR reach by researchers. A good fit between the company personality and its CSR is linked with influencing associative networks of consumers positively (Fiske and Taylor, 2008). This belief was widely held among the respondents (77.5%\*, 80.6%\*\*) of this research, which was in agreement with the widely recognised study of Becker-Olsen *et al.* (2006) and Perez and Del Bosque (2013).

[\*All data (N=89) \*\*Part of data set aside (N=72)]

#### 5.3 Research Objective 2.

"To assess the changes, if any, that occur in consumers' brand attitude, subsequent to obtaining knowledge about a company/product's CSR initiatives."

This objective was the key focus of the research, with the other building up to it. The belief being that interest stemming from altruistic motivations has the ability to significantly influence attitudes (Perez and Del Bosque, 2013). In other words, brand's CSR attraction or desirability leads to development or change of brand attitude. The findings presented in section 4.2 - Q7-Q17, are concerned with this objective. Due to absence of any pre-existing research looking specifically at this particular aspect, the general construct of brand attitude was used to evaluate the findings of this objective.

Similar to the last objective, the measure of reliability of obtained through the use of Cronbach's alpha via IBM SPSS. The eleven-question scale relevant here, achieved a Cronbach's alpha value of 0.855 (when part of data was set aside i.e. N=72). On the other hand, the Cronbach's alpha value was 0.858 (when all the data was considered

i.e. N=89) (See appendix). Thus, indicating a very good level of reliability in either case (Uraschi, Horodnic and Zait, 2015; Hulin, Netemeyer, and Cudeck, 2001).

Here the construct followed was based on the tricomponent model of attitude as reviewed in section 2.3.1 The thought process was to associate the findings with the components and understand the impact of CSR on brand attitude. Further, image, attributes, evaluations of brand merge to form attitude, making assessment of these factors vital to understanding attitude.

<u>Cognitive component</u>: Respondents' cognition towards the FMCG brands (attitude object) were assessed. The assessment was made on the basis of the beliefs about the CSR activities and practices of the FMCG brands. The beliefs were a direct result of respondents' experiences and information exposure. Q9, Q10 and Q11 were used to understand the cognitive aspect of attitude. With a good level of agreement, three consumer cognitions/beliefs about CSR engaging FMCG brands could be identified.

- The brands care about society and its well-being
- The brands are good brands
- The brand's products and services are of good quality

Thus, a consumer is likely to believe that the brand possesses the above three qualities if it engages in CSR. What is important to understand here is, that irrespective of whether a brand really cares or is good or manufactures good quality, its very engagement in CSR would result in these qualities being attached to the brand.

<u>Affective component</u>: Affection is concerned with the feelings and emotions a consumer attaches to the FMCG brand (attitude object). As part of the study, the emotions resulting from evaluation of CSR activities were understood. This component is believed by many researchers to be the most important and central to understanding attitude (Schiffman and Wisenblit, 2015). The questions Q7, Q12, Q13, Q14 and Q15 were used for evaluations. The respondents were in a highly favourable agreement on Q7, Q12 and Q13. However, for Q14 and Q15 majority agreed but the results were not in clear approval. Based on the same, the following

can be said about the limited emotions studied here, when a consumer has exposure to FMCG brands' CSR initiatives:

	Emotion/Feeling	Level of affection
1	Respect towards brand	Highly affected
2	Relatedness to the brand	Highly affected
3	Pleasure leading to action	Highly affected
4	Loyalty to the brand	Moderately affected
5	Sorrow (in case of disagreement)	Insignificantly affected

In similarity to cognitions, the CSR engagement of a FMCG company would ideally lead to the consumers experiencing the emotions of respect, relatedness, pleasure to a high degree and loyalty to a moderate degree. Such experiences drive emotionally-charged consumer decisions (Schiffman and Wisenblit, 2015).

<u>Conative component</u>: The likelihood and the manner in which an individual will react towards FMCG brands (attitude object) is based on the conative component. In other words, understanding the intention to buy is the final aspect of attitude. The questions Q8, Q16, Q17 were designed to understand whether the cognitions and affections towards FMCG brands, resulting from CSR, would drive conations.

Although majority were in agreement about all questions, only Q17 could be said to have popular accord. While Q8 and Q16 had respondents' accord to a certain degree. This can be summed up as below:

- Only about half the consumers can distinguish a CSR practicing FMCG brand from a non-practicing one.
- When buying for the first time, a consumer may only slightly favour a CSR practicing FMCG brand.
- However, if a consumer buys a FMCG brand regularly, he would be willing to pay slightly higher for the same brand because of its CSR connection.

According to Schiffman and Wisenblit (2015), cognitive and affective component build a positive attitude that leads to a positive conation/purchase intention. However, this could only be partially established here. The FMCG companies' CSR affected cognitive component and affective component in a positive manner. However, its impact on the conative component, although positive, could not be seen to the same effect. Overall, based on the tricomponent attitude model, FMCG companies' CSR engagement could be said to have a right impact on brand attitude amid certain shortfalls in some areas.

#### 5.3 Others.

If the consumer is not aware, no gains would be made from the company's CSR activities (Bhattacharya and Sen, 2004). The intent, from the initial set of probing questions, was to understand the awareness and knowledge. With about 20% of responses being set aside due to lack of knowledge, a significant deficiency could be observed in Indian consumers awareness about CSR activities. This is important to be recognized because all the talk of CSR and its influence on brand attitude would be deemed theoretical, if there is no awareness (Pomering and Dolnicar, 2009).

Alternatively, those aware, were asked via Q6 about the companies whose CSR initiatives they were most aware of. Based on the findings, a clear pattern was observed, HUL, P&G, ITC, Nestle and Dabur were vastly recognized by respondents. Thus, making it important to understand and evaluate these FMCG brands and their CSR initiatives from a future research perspective.

## Chapter 6: Conclusion.

## 6.1 Introduction.

With too many media platforms and the clutter of advertisements therein, marketers are facing a challenge to attract and hold attention in a manner to influence attitudes. The idea was to figure out if the unconventional route of CSR engagement could be adopted for developing stable brand attitude.

The research focused on understanding the impact of CSR on brand attitude. Over the last few years, CSR engagement of corporations has increased significantly. With this, the innovation of such corporate campaigners has also increased to enhance the level of interaction with various stakeholders. Therefore, the research intended to explore how this interaction impacts the development of attitudes and the subsequent changes that occur in the consumers' subconsciousness.

### 6.2 Implications.

A theoretical as well as a practical account of CSR and its impact on development of brand attitude in the context of the Indian FMCG market, is presented by this dissertation. The findings prove that CSR engagement has an influence on brand attitudes and that consumers view CSR in positive light. Thus, the results may well be of assistance to firms and corporations initiating or already engaged in CSR. These may also be used to create, frame or modify CSR initiatives in corporations. The research findings from primary data collection, in addition, could help explain the factors that make a CSR program more effective. The appeal could be enhanced by ensuring a few simple things, like making CSR engagement more meaningful, getting involved in activities that are, complementary to the existing business and are in good-fit with the core business.

Further, by understanding what aspects of consumer brand attitude are highly affected by CSR, brands can better allocate their CSR spending. Carrying work forward on the basis of findings presented in this dissertation may bring it to the notice of CSR teams that more focus is required on attitude aspects that boost conations/actions. Lastly, CSR communicating practices can be improved by presenting information in a better way for better awareness.

#### 6.3 Limitations.

Even though a good deal of research exists on CSR and brand attitude, studies linking the two are limited. Thus, in terms of findings and conclusions, this dissertation is independent from others. As the subject is broad, covering all aspects in every respect was not possible; thus, attention must be drawn to the limitations. The key constraint, as is the case with any dissertation, was the time allotted. With the availability of further resources for the dissertation (e.g. people, time, money), a mix of different techniques could have been adopted to better reach the objectives.

The scope of the survey was a nature limitation, as the results were based on a fairly limited study of 89 respondents. Additionally, the age distribution of respondents was unequal. With major respondents in the 18-24 and 25-34 age bracket, the generalisation of results to entire population is limited. Further, use of only quantitative method for this dissertation could appear as a weakness, since collaboration with other methods could have resulted in solid research. Furthermore, the researcher intended to study the correlation between income and CSR based brand attitude, but many respondents were not comfortable in sharing such information thereby affecting the planned action. Lastly, the research was cross-sectional i.e. captured at a specific moment in time, which may be seen as unsuitable to study attitudes.

#### 6.4 Future recommendations.

Considering the limitations of this dissertation, investigations can be made in the future about the influence of CSR on other aspects of consumer behaviour. The focus of future studies could be on examining the existence of correlation between income-based factors and attitude. The observations made by Tran *et al.* (2017) could support this premise. Additionally, the influence of the demographic factors could be explored in relation to company's communication.

As mentioned earlier, greater benefit could be derived if the research would have been complemented by other data collection methods in addition to the online survey, for instance interview. Precision could have been added to the findings if quantitative and qualitative techniques were used in parallel. This would have permitted the researcher to ask open-ended questions which would allow a clear view of respondents' reactions and feedbacks. This would also facilitate an in detail understanding of brand attitude from FMCG CSR perspective.

This dissertation made an investigation into brand attitude through the use of tricomponent model. Reflecting on the same, prospective studies are recommended to look more carefully at the respondents' intention, in context of the conative component of attitude. Correspondingly, it will be prudent to study different areas of conation to get a clear picture. Further, use of other models like ELM or multi-attribute models could be made in future research, to get a different perspective of attitude development and change in context of CSR. In view of the discussions, limitations and recommendations, it is possible to develop further research to study the impact of CSR on brand attitudes in the Indian context.

#### 6.5 Concluding point.

This dissertation started off with the thought of how a concept developed for businesses to give back to the society they co-exist in, could result in an unintended marketing benefit and how businesses can intentionally take advantage of this unintended benefit. While the thought was probably too expansive for single limited dissertation like this one, a key aspect of it was picked for study in further detail, in context of a particular industry and a particular market. Thus, leading to the study of brand attitudes in context of FMCG market in the Asian country of India.

Beginning with the justification and questions, the dissertation moved on to a critical review of the existing literature in this area. The methodology was then developed on the back of this critical review, consequently leading to the findings and discussion. Ultimately, the research effectively answered the research questions.

In conclusion it could be said, with reference to the purpose of the dissertation, that, 'CSR activities generally have a positive impact on developing brand attitudes in the Indian FMCG market'. Even so, variations do exist in how positive these acts are considered. Further, it can be said that the buying actions are also affected, but not to the same extent.

If a brand wants to achieve two aims at once, it should work on its CSR communications and engagement. When positive brand attitudes are developed, they endure for a long period and do not get eroded easily. Thus, protecting the brand even in mishaps. Lastly, integration of CSR activities into the corporate culture, goals and objectives will not only improve the attitudes but also lead to significantly successful business in the long run.

## References.

Achabou, M.A. and Dekhili, A. (2013) 'Luxury and sustainable development: Is there a match?', *Journal of Business Research*, 66, 1896-1903, Science Direct. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2013.02.011

Adis, A. & Jun, K. (2013) 'Antecedents of Brand Recall and Brand Attitude towards Purchase Intention in advergames', *European Journal of Business and Management*, 5(18), pp. 58-67, IISTE. Available at: <u>https://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/EJBM/article/view/6644/6788</u> [Accessed 17 August 2020]

Aguilera, R. V., Rupp, D. E., Williams, C. A. and Ganapathi, J. (2007) 'Putting the S back in corporate social responsibility: A multilevel theory of social change in organizations', *Academy of Management Review*, 32(3), pp. 836-63, Academy of Management. doi: 10.5465/amr.2007.25275678

Ajzen, I. and Fishbien, M. (1980) Understanding Attitudes and Predicting Social Behaviour. New Jersey: Prentice Hall.

Amatulli, C., De Angelis, M., Korschun, D. and Romani, S. (2018) 'Consumers' perceptions of luxury brands' CSR initiatives: An investigation of the role of status and conspicuous consumption', *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 194, pp. 277-287, Gale Academic OneFile. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.05.111

Appiah-Adu, K. and Singh, S. (1998) 'Consumers orientation and performance: A study of SMEs. (small and medium-sized businesses', *Management Decision*, 36(6), pp. 385-394, Emerald Insight, doi: 10.1108/00251749810223592

Bajpai, P. (2020) *The 5 Largest Economies In The World And Their Growth In 2020.* Available at: <u>https://www.nasdaq.com/articles/the-5-largest-economies-in-the-world-and-their-growth-in-2020-2020-01-22</u> [Accessed 17 August 2020]

Becker-Olsen, K. L., Cudmore, B. A. and Hill, R. P. (2006) 'The impact of perceived corporate social responsibility on consumer behavior', *Journal of Business Research*, 59(1), pp. 46–53, ScienceDirect. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2005.01.001

Beckmann, S. C. (2007) 'Consumers and corporate social responsibility: Matching the unmatchable?', *Australasian Marketing Journal (AMJ)*, 15(1), pp. 27-36, ScienceDirect. doi: 10.1016/S1441-3582(07)70026-5

Belk, R. W., Devinney, T. and Eckhardt, G. (2005) 'Consumer ethics across cultures', *Consumption Markets & Culture*, 8(3), pp. 275-289, Business Source Ultimate. doi: 10.1080/10253860500160411

Bhattacharya, C. and Sen, S. (2004) 'Doing better at doing good: When, why, and how consumers respond to corporate social initiatives', *California Management Review*, 47(1), pp. 9-24, Business source ultimate. Doi: 10.2307/41166284

Blowfield, M. and Murray, A. (2008) *Corporate responsibility: A critical introduction*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Blumberg, B., Cooper, D. R. and Schindler, S. (2011) *Business Research Methods*. 3rd edn. Berkshire: McGraw-Hill Education.

Broadbent, T. (2009) 'FMCG advertising: the home of branding', in Powell, H., Hardy, J., Hawkin, S. and Macrury, I. (eds) *The advertising handbook*, 3rd edn. London: Routledge

Brønn, P. S. and Vidaver-Cohen, D. (2009) 'Corporate motives for social iniative: Legitamcy, sustainability or the bottom line?', *Journal of Business Ethics*, 87, pp. 91– 109, Springer Science and Business Media LLC. Doi: 10.1007/s10551-008-9795-z

Bryman, A. and Bell, E. (2011) *Business research methods*. 3rd edn. UK: Oxford university press.

Campbell, J. L. (2007) 'Why would corporations behave in socially responsible ways? An institutional theory of corporate social responsibility', *The Academy of Management Review*, 32(3), pp. 946–967, Academy of Management. doi: 10.5465/amr.2007.25275684

Carrigan, M. and Attalla, A. (2001) 'The myth of the ethical consumer – do ethics matter in purchase behaviour?', *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 18 (7), pp. 560-77, Emerald Insight, doi: 10.1108/07363760110410263

Carroll, A. and Shabana, K. (2010) 'The Business Case for Corporate Social Responsibility: A Review of Concepts, Research and Practice', *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 12(1), pp. 85-105, Business Source Complete. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2370.2009.00275.x

Chauhan, C., Rathore, H. S. and Matta, S. K. (2019) 'An empirical research on FMCG sector', *International Journal of Recent Technology and Engineering*, 8(2 Special Issue 7), pp. 553–557, Scopus. doi: 10.35940/ijrte.B11103.0782S719.

Chih, W., Liou, D. and Hsu, L. (2014) 'From positive and negative cognition perspectives to explore e-shoppers' real purchase behavior: an application of tricomponent attitude model', *Information Systems and e-Business Management*, 13(3), pp. 495-526, Springer Science and Business Media LLC. Doi: 10.1007/s10257-014-0249-0

Chouthoy, S. and Kazi, R. (2016) 'En route to a Theory - Building Consumer Brand Commitment through CSR Reputation', *Global Business & Management Research*, 8(3), pp 67-82, Business Source Complete.

Collis, J. and Hussey, R. (2014) *Business Research: A Practical Guide for Undergraduate and Postgraduate Students*. 4th edn. London: Palgrave.

Cooper, D. and Schindler, P. (2011) *Business research methods*. 11th edn. New York: McGraw-Hill Irwin.

Crotty, M. (1998) The Foundations of Social Research. London: Sage.

Dabur (a) (2018) *Project Desert Bloom.* Available at: <u>https://www.dabur.com/img/upload-files/51366-Water-Booklet.pdf</u>

Dabur (b) (2018) 7 *Steps Towards Dignity*. Available at: <u>https://www.dabur.com/img/upload-files/51367-Sanitation-Booklet.pdf</u>

Davies, I.A. and Lee, Z. and Ahonkhai, I. (2012) 'Do consumers care about ethicalluxury?', *Journal of Business Ethics*, 106(1), pp. 37-51, JSTOR Journals. doi: 10.1007/s10551-011-1071-y Dawkins, J. (2004) 'Corporate responsibility: the communication challenge', *Journal* of Communication Management, 9(2), pp. 108 – 119, Emerald Insight. doi: 10.1108/13632540510621362

Denzin, N.K. and Lincoln, Y.S. (2005) *The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research*, 3rd edn. London: Sage.

DeVaus, D.A. (2002) Surveys in Social Research. 5th edn. London: Routledge.

Ehrenberg, A. (1972) *Repeat Buying: Theory and Application*. Amsterdam: North-Holland Publishing Co.

Ellen, P. S., Webb, D. J. and Mohr, L. A. (2006) 'Building corporate associations: Consumer attributions for corporate socially responsible programs', *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 34(2), pp. 147–157, Business source ultimate. doi: 10.1177/0092070305284976

Etzioni, A. (1988) The moral dimension: Towards a new economics. New York: The Free Press

European Commission (2001) 'Commission Green Paper on Promoting a European framework for Corporate Social Responsibility', COM(2001) 366 final, Available at: <a href="https://ec.europa.eu/transparency/regdoc/rep/1/2001/EN/1-2001-366-EN-1-0.Pdf">https://ec.europa.eu/transparency/regdoc/rep/1/2001/EN/1-2001-366-EN-1-0.Pdf</a> [Accessed 17 August 2020]

Feldwick, P. (2002) What is Brand Equity Anyway? UK: NTC Publications.

Fishbein, M. (1963) 'An Investigation of the Relationships Between Beliefs about an Object and the Attitude Toward the Object', *Human Relations*, 16(3), pp. 233–240, SAGE Publications. doi: 10.1177/001872676301600302

Fishbein, M. (1967) *Readings In Attitude Theory And Measurement*. New York: Wiley.

Frels, R. K. and Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2013) 'Administering Quantitative Instruments with Qualitative Interviews: A Mixed Research Approach', *Journal of Counselling & Development*, 91(2), pp. 184–194.

Gautam, R. and Singh A. (2010) 'Corporate Social Responsibility Practices in India: A Study of Top 500 Companies', Global Business & Management Research, 2 (1), pp.

41-56,BusinessSourceUltimate.Availableat:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db=bsu&AN=51408905&site=eds-live&scope=site[Accessed 17 August 2020]

Graafland, J., and Mazereeuw-Van Der Duijn Schouten, C. (2012) 'Motives for corporate social responsibility', *De Economist*, 160(4), pp. 377-396, Springer Science and Business Media LLC. doi: 10.1007/s10645-012-9198-5

Greener, S. and Martelli, J. (2018) *An introduction to business research methods*. 3rd edn. London: Bookboon.

Griffin, J.J. and Mahon, J. (1997) 'The corporate social performance and corporate financial performance debate: twenty-five years of incomparable research', *Business and Society*, 36, pp. 5–31, Gale Academic OneFile. doi: 10.1177/000765039703600102

Griskevicius, V., Tybur, J.M. and Van den Bergh, B. (2010) 'Going green to be seen: status, reputation, and conspicuous conservation', *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 98 (3), pp. 392-404, APA PsycArticles. doi: 10.1037/a0017346.

Gupta, M. and Hodges, N. (2012) 'Corporate social responsibility in apparel industry; An exploration of Indian consumers' perceptions and expectations', *Journal of Fashion Marketing and Management: An International Journal*, 16 (2), pp. 216-233, Emerald Insight. doi: 10.1108/13612021211222833

Gupta, O. and Gupta, K. (2019) 'CSR In India: The Companies Act and Its Implications',Journal of Contemporary Management Research, 13(1), pp. 1-23, Business sourceultimate.Availablehttp://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db

=bsu&AN=137719591&site=eds-live&scope=site
[Accessed 17 August 2020]

Gupta, S. (2011) 'Consumer stakeholder view of corporate social responsibility: a comparative analysis from USA and India', *Social Responsibility Journal*, 7 (3), pp. 363 – 380, Emerald Insight. doi: 10.1108/1747111111154518

Gupta, S. and Wadera, D. (2019) 'Awareness and understanding of corporate social responsibility (CSR) among Indian consumers', *International Journal of Research and Analytical Reviews (IJRAR)*, 6(2), pp. 570-587. doi: 10.1729/Journal.21670

Hart, S. (1995) 'A natural-resource-based view of the firm', *The Academy of Management Review*, 20(4), pp. 986-1014, Academy of Management. doi: 10.2307/258963.

Henderson, D. (2001) *Misguided virtue: false notions of corporate social responsibility.* London: Institute of Economic Affairs

Hess, D., Rogovsky, N., and Dunfee, T. W. (2002) 'The next wave of corporate community involvement: Corporate social initiatives', *California Management Review*, 44(2), pp. 110-125, SAGE Publications. doi: 10.2307/41166125

Hewson, C. (2003) 'Conducting Research on the Internet', *Psychologist*, 16(6), pp. 290–293, Scopus.

Hofstee, E. (2006) *Constructing a Good Dissertation*. 1st edn. Sandton, South Africa: EPE.

Howell, K. E. (2013) *Introduction to the Philosophy of Methodology*. London: Sage Publications.

HUL (2019) *Corporate Social Responsibility Policy.* Available at: <u>https://www.hul.co.in/investor-relations/corporate-governance/hul-policies/corporate-social-responsibility-policy/</u>[Accessed 17 August 2020]

Hulin, C., Netemeyer, R. and Cudeck, R. (2001) 'Can a Reliability Coefficient Be Too High?', *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 10(1&2), pp. 55-58, Academic Search Complete. doi: 10.1207/S15327663JCP1001&2 05

Husted, B. W. and Salazar, J. d. J. (2006) 'Taking Friedman seriously: Maximizing profits and social performance', *Journal of Management Studies*, 43(1), pp. 75-91, Wiley. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6486.2006.00583.x.

IBEF (2018) Fast moving consumer goods (FMCG). Available at: <u>https://www.ibef.org/download/FMCG-Report-April-20181.pdf</u> [Accessed 17 August 2020]

68

IBEF (2020) Fast moving consumer goods (FMCG). Available at: <a href="https://www.ibef.org/download/FMCG-May-2020.pdf">https://www.ibef.org/download/FMCG-May-2020.pdf</a> [Accessed 17 August 2020]

Jammulamadaka, N. (2018) 'Reading Institutional Logics of CSR in India from a Postcolonial Location', *Journal of Business Ethics*, 163(3), pp. 599-617, Business source ultimate. doi: 10.1007/s10551-018-4041-9

Janssen, C., Vanhamme, J., Lindgreen, A. and Lefebvre, C. (2014) 'The Catch-22 of responsible luxury: effects of luxury product characteristics on consumers' perception of fit with corporate social responsibility', *Journal of business ethics*, 119(45), pp. 45-57, JSTOR Journals, doi: 10.1007/s10551-013-1621-6

Jonker, J. and Witte, M.D. (2006) *The challenge of organizing and implementing corporate social responsibility.* London: Palgrave Macmillan

Kang, J. (2009) 'Corporate social responsibility? Not my business any more: The CEOhorizon problem in corporate social performance', Academy of ManagementPerspectives,pp.1–6,Availablehttps://journals.aom.org/doi/pdf/10.5465/ambpp.2009.44243051[Accessed: 17August 2020]Available

Khan, Z., Lew, Y. K., and Park, B. I. (2015) 'Institutional legitimacy and norms-based CSR marketing practices: insights from MNCs operating in a developing economy', *International Marketing Review*, 32(5), pp. 463–491, Emerald. doi: 10.1108/imr-01-2014-0017

Kiessling, T., Isaksson, L. and Yasar, B. (2015) 'Market Orientation and CSR: Performance Implications', *Journal of business ethics*, pp. 269-284, JSTOR. doi: 10.1007/s10551-015-2555-y

King, A. A. and Toffel, M. W. (2009) 'Self-regulatory institutions for solving environmental problems: Perspectives and contributions from the management literature', in Delmas, M. & Young, O. (eds) *Governance for the environment. New perspectives*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 98-116.

Kotler, P. and Keller, K. (2016) *Marketing management*. 15th edn. Harlow: Pearson.

KPMG. (2011), KPMG International survey of corporate responsibility reporting 2011. Available at:

https://www.open.edu/openlearn/ocw/pluginfile.php/387300/mod\_resource/cont ent/1/T219\_1%20Reading%202%20KPMG%2C%202011.pdf [Accessed\_17\_August 2020].

Kuepfer, J. and Papula, J. (2010) 'Corporate social responsibility - the dilemmas behind the popular concept and how to best address them!', *International Journal of Sustainable Society*, 2(3), pp. 291-305, Scopus. doi: 10.1504/IJSSOC.2010.034765

Kuhn, T. S. (1962) *The structure of scientific revolutions*, 1st edn. Chicago: University of Chicago.

Kumar, T. S. and Satyanarayana, C. (2019) 'A Study on Corporate Social Responsibilityin India', ITIHAS - The Journal of Indian Management, 9(4), pp. 64–70, BusinessSourceUltimate.Availableat:<a href="http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db">http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db</a><a href="mailto:bubble=bsu&AN=141750515&site=eds-live&scope=site">in India</a>, ITIHAS - The Journal of Indian Management, 9(4), pp. 64–70, BusinessSourceUltimate.Availableat:<a href="mailto:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db">http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db</a><a href="mailto:bubble=bsu&AN=141750515&site=eds-live&scope=site">http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db</a>

Lantos, G.P. (2001) 'The boundaries of strategic corporate social responsibility', *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 18(7), pp. 595-630, Emerald insight, doi: 10.1108/07363760110410281

Lee, E. M., Park, S. Y., Rapert, M. I. and Newman, C. L. (2011) 'Does perceived consumer fit matter in corporate social responsibility issues?', *Journal of Business Research*, 65(11), pp. 1558-1564, ScienceDirect. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2011.02.040.

Lee, K. H. and Shin, D. (2010) 'Consumers' responses to CSR activities: The linkage between increased awareness and purchase intention', *Public Relations Review*, 36 (2), pp. 193-195, Scopus. doi: 10.1016/j.pubrev.2009.10.014

Lewis, S. (2001) 'Measuring corporate reputation', *Corporate Communications: an International Journal*, 6(1), pp. 31 – 35, Emerald Insight. doi: 10.1108/13563280110381198 Lopez, M. V., Garcia, A., and Rodriguez, L. (2007) 'Sustainable development and corporate performance: A study based on the Dow jones sustainability index', *Journal of Business Ethics*, 75, 285–300, JSTOR Journals. doi: 10.1007/s10551-006-9253-8

Lund-Thomsen, P., Lindgreen, A., and Vanhamme, J. (2016), 'Industrial clusters and corporate social responsibility in developing countries: what we know, what we do not know, and what we need to know', *Journal of Business Ethics*, 133(1), pp. 9–24, Springer Science and Business Media LLC. doi: 10.1007/s10551-014-2372-8

Luo, X., and Bhattacharya, C. B. (2009) 'The debate over doing good: Corporate social performance, strategic marketing levers, and firm-idiosyncratic risk', *Journal of Marketing*, 73, 198–21, Gale Academic OneFile. doi: 10.1509/jmkg.73.6.198

Maignan, I. (2001) 'Consumers' perceptions of corporate social responsibilities: A cross-cultural comparison', *Journal of Business Ethics*, 30(1), pp. 57–72, JSTOR journals. doi: 10.2307/25074480

Malviya, S. (2019) *P&G India finds a winning formula*. Available at: <u>https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/industry/cons-products/fmcg/pg-india-</u> <u>finds-a-winning-formula/articleshow/68589317.cms?from=mdr</u> [Accessed 17 August 2020]

Mar Garcia-De los salmones, M. and Perez, A. (2018) 'Effectiveness of CSR Advertising: The Role of Reputation, Consumer Attributions, and Emotions', *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 25(2), pp. 194-209, Gale Academic OneFile, doi: 10.1002/csr.1453

Margolis, J. D. and Walsh, J. P. (2001) *People and profits? The search for a link between a company's social and financial performance*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

MarketLine (2019) *MarketLine Company Profile: Nestle India Ltd.* Available at: <a href="http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db">http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db</a> = <a href="http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db">http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db</a> = <a href="http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db">http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db</a> = <a href="http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip">http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip</a>, cookie, shib&db

MarketLine (2020) *MarketLine Company Profile: Hindustan Unilever Limited*. Available at: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db =bsu&AN=142233742&site=eds-live&scope=site [Accessed 17 August 2020]

Matin, L., Ruiz, S. and Rubio, A. (2009) 'The role of identity salience in the effects of corporate social responsibility on consumer behavior', *Journal of Business Ethics*, 84(1), 65-78, JSTOR. doi: 10.1007/s10551-008-9673-8

Mayer, I. (2015) 'Qualitative Research with a Focus on Qualitative Data Analysis', International Journal of Sales, Retailing & Marketing, 4(9), pp. 53–67, Business source complete. Available at:

<u>http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db</u> <u>=bsu&AN=116381445&site=eds-live&scope=site</u> [Accessed 17 August 2020]

Mihalache, S. (2011) 'CSR – A marketing tool?', *Annals of Spiru Haret University*, Economic Series, 11(1), pp. 159-164, Directory of Open Access Journals.

Mitchell, A, & Olson, J. (1981) 'Are Product Attribute Beliefs the Only Mediator of Advertising Effects on Brand Attitude?', *Journal Of Marketing Research (JMR)*, 18(3) pp. 318-332, SAGE Publications. doi: 10.1177/002224378101800306

Mohr, L. A., and Webb, D. J. (2005) 'The effects of corporate social responsibility and price on consumer responses', *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 39(1), pp. 121-147, Business source ultimate. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6606.2005.00006.x

Mohr, L. A., Webb, D. J. and Harris, K. E. (2001) 'Do consumers expect companies to be socially responsible? The impact of corporate social responsibility on buying behavior', *Journal of Consumer affairs*, 35(1), pp. 45-72, Business Source Ultimate. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6606.2001.tb00102.x

Moon, J. & Vogel, D. (2008) 'Corporate social responsibility, government and civil society', in Crane, A., McWilliams, A., Matten, D., Moon, J., & Siegel, D. (eds) *The Oxford handbook of corporate social responsibility*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 303-323.

Moses, J. W. and Knutsen, T. L. (2019) *Ways of Knowing: Competing Methodologies in Social and Political Research*. 3rd edn. Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan Nadaf, Y. and Nadaf, S. (2014) 'Corporate Social Responsibility: Issues Challenges and Strategies for Indian Firms', *IOSR Journal of Business and Management*, 16(5), pp. 51-56, IOSR Journals. doi: 10.9790/487x-16535156

Öberseder, M., Schlegelmilch, B. and Gruber, V. (2011) "Why Don't Consumers Care About CSR?": A Qualitative Study Exploring the Role of CSR in Consumption Decisions', *Journal of Business Ethics*, 104(4), pp. 449-460, Springer Science and Business Media LLC. doi: 10.1007/s10551-011-0925-7.

Orlitzky, M., Schmidt, F. L., and Rynes, S. L. (2003) 'Corporate social and financial performance: A meta-analysis', *Organization Studies*, 24(3), pp. 403–441, SAGE Publications. doi: 10.1177/0170840603024003910.

P&G (2019) 2019 Citizenship Report. Available at: https://assets.ctfassets.net/oe48y40ukei6/B5XmfFUoyR1jOMkbrTyry/cef3b960200 f46ad072b05c39dbb4f70/P G ISC Citizenship report.pdf [Accessed 17 August 2020]

Palihawadana, D., Oghazi, P. and Liu, Y. (2016) 'Effects of ethical ideologies and perceptions of CSR on consumer behavior', *Journal of Business Research*, 69 (11), pp. 4964-4969, Elsevier. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.04.060

Perez, A. and Del Bosque, I. R. (2013) 'Extending on the Formation Process of CSR Image', *Social Marketing Quarterly*, 19 (3), pp. 156-171, Business Source Ultimate. doi: 10.1177/1524500413489287

Petty, R. and Cacioppo, J. (1986) 'The elaboration likelihood model of persuasion', *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, 19, pp. 123–205, ScienceDirect. doi:10.1016/s0065-2601(08)60214-2.

Planken, B., Sahu, S. and Nickerson, C. (2010) 'Corporate social responsibility communication in the Indian context', *Journal of Indian Business Research*, 2 (1), pp. 10-22, Emerald Insight. Doi: 10.1108/17554191011032910

Pomering, A. and Dolnicar, S. (2009) 'Assessing the prerequisite of successful CSR implementation: are consumers aware of CSR initiatives?', *Journal of business ethics*, 85(2), pp. 285 – 301, JSTOR. doi: 10.1007/s10551-008-9729-9

73

Poonamallee, L. (2011) 'Corporate citizenship: Panacea or problem?' *The Journal of Corporate Citizenship*, 2011(44), pp. 8-28, GSE Research Limited. doi: 10.9774/gleaf.4700.2011.wi.00003

Ramdhani, A., Alamanda, D.T. and Sudrajat, H. (2012) 'Analysis of consumer attitude using Fishbein multiattributes approach', *International Journal of Basic and Applied Science*, 1(1), pp. 33-39, Insan Akademika Publications. doi: 10.17142/ijbas-2012.1.1.5

Ramesh, K., Saha, R., Goswami, S., Sekar and Dahiya, R. (2018) 'Consumer's response to CSR activities: Mediating role of brand image and brand attitude', *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 26(2), pp.377-387, Wiley. doi: 10.1002/csr.1689

Remenyi, D., Williams, B., Money, A. and Swartz, E. (1998) *Doing Research in Business and Management: An Introduction to Process and Method*. London: Sage

Rivera, J.J., Bigne, E. and Curras-Perez, R. (2016) 'Effects of Corporate Social Responsibility perception on consumer satisfaction with the brand', *Spanish Journal of Marketing – ESIC*, 20(2), pp. 104-114, ScienceDirect. doi: 10.1016/j.sjme.2016.06.002

Rosenberg MJ and Hovland CI (1960) 'Cognitive, affective, and behavioral components of attitudes', in Rosenberg, M. J., Hovland, C. I., McGuire, W. J., Abelson, R. P. and Brehm, J. W. (eds) *Attitude organization and change: an analysis of consistency among attitude components*. New Haven: Yale University Press, pp. 1–14.

Samy, M., Ogiri, H. I., and Bampton, R. (2015), 'Examining the public policy perspective of CSR implementation in Sub-Saharan Africa', *Social Responsibility Journal*, 11(3), pp. 553–572, Emerald. doi: 10.1108/srj-02-2013-0009

Saunders, M., Lewis, P. and Thornhill, A. (2012) *Research Methods for Business Students*. 6th edn. Harlow: Pearson Education Limited.

Saunders, M., Lewis, P. and Thornhill, A. (2016) *Research methods for business students.* 7th edn. Harlow: Pearson.

Schiffman, L. and Wisenblit, J. (2015) Consumer behavior. 11th edn. Harlow: Pearson.

Schwartz, B. (2004) *The Paradox of Choice: Why Less is More*. New York: Harper Collins.

Sen, S. and Bhattacharya, C. B. (2001) 'Does doing good always lead to doing better? Consumer reactions to corporate social responsibility', *Journal of marketing Research*, 38(2), 225-243, JSTOR Journal. doi: 10.1509/jmkr.38.2.225.18838

Sen, S., Du, S. and Bhattacharya, C., (2016) 'Corporate social responsibility: a consumer psychology perspective', *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 10, pp.70–75, Gale Academic OneFile. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.12.014

Sicilia, M., Ruiz, S., and Reynolds, N. (2006) 'Attitude formation online: How the consumer's need for cognition affects the relationship between attitude towards the website and attitude towards the brand', *International Journal of Market Research*, 48(2), pp. 139-154, SAGE Publications. doi: 10.1177/147078530604800204.

Silverman, D. (2001) Interpreting qualitative data: Methods for analysing talk, text and interaction. London: Sage.

Silverman, D. (2016) *Qualitative research*. 4th edn. London: Sage.

Singh, S., Bawa, J. and Sharma, G. (2016) 'A case study on Corporate Social Responsibility in Nestle, TATA, ITC', *Journal of advanced research in HR and organizational management*, 3(4), pp. 1-16.

Snider, J., Paul, R. H., and Martin, D. (2003) 'Corporate social responsibility in the 21st century: A view from the world's most successful firms', *Journal of Business Ethics*, 48(2), pp. 175–187, Scopus. doi: 10.1023/B:BUSI.0000004606.29523.db

Spears, N. and Singh, S. N. (2004) 'Measuring attitude toward the brand and purchase intentions', *Journal of Current Issues and Research in Advertising*, 26(2), pp. 53–66, Informa UK Limited. doi: 10.1080/10641734.2004.10505164

Thain, G. (2014) FMCG: The Power of Fast-Moving Consumer Goods. Sarasota, FL:FirstEditionDesignPublishing.Availableat:

http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db =e020mww&AN=826904&site=eds-live&scope=site [Accessed 17 August 2020]

Tran, Q., Le, T. and Huynh, L. (2017) 'Perception of Bank Customers towards Banking Corporate Social Responsibility in Vietnam', *International Research Journal of Finance and Economics*, 161, pp. 81-95. Available at: <u>http://www.internationalresearchjournaloffinanceandeconomics.com/ISSUES/IRJFE</u> <u>161-06.pdf</u> [Accessed 17 August 2020]

Tudway, R. and Pascal, A. M. (2006) 'Corporate governance, shareholder value and societal expectations', *Corporate Governance: The international journal of business in society*, 6(3), pp. 305–316, Emerald. doi: 10.1108/14720700610671909

Uraschi,G., Horodnic, I.A. and Zait, A. (2015) 'How reliable are measurement scales? External factors with indirect influence on reliability estimators', *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 20, pp. 679 – 686, ScienceDirect. doi: 10.1016/S2212-5671(15)00123-9

Vaaland, T., Heide, M. and Grønhaug, K. (2008) 'Corporate social responsibility: investigating theory and research in the marketing context', *European Journal of Marketing*, 42 (9/10), pp. 927-953, Emerald Insight. doi: 10.1108/03090560810891082

Van Beurden, P., & Gössling, T. (2008) 'The worth of values—A literature review on the relation between corporate social and financial performance', *Journal of Business Ethics*, 82(2), pp. 407–424, Springer Science and Business Media LLC. Doi: 10.1007/s10551-008-9894-x

Van Marrewijk, M. and Werre, M. (2003) 'Multiple levels of corporate sustainability', *Journal of Business Ethics*, 44 (2), pp. 107-119, JSTOR Journals. Available at: <u>http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db</u> <u>=edsjsr&AN=edsjsr.25075021&site=eds-live&scope=site</u> [Accessed 17 August 2020]

Vlachos, P. A., Tsamakos, A., Vrechopoulos, A. P. and Avramidis, P. K. (2009) 'Corporate social responsibility: Attributions, loyalty, and the mediating role of trust', *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 37(2), pp. 170–180, Business source ultimate. doi: 10.1007/s11747-008-0117-x Vogel, D. (2005) The market for virtue: The potential and limits of corporate social responsibility. Washington, D.C.: Brookins Institution Press.

Werther, W.B. Jr. and Chandler, D. (2006) *Strategic Corporate Social Responsibility in a Global World*. CA: Sage Publications.

Wood, D. J. (2010) 'Measuring corporate social performance: A review', *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 12(1), pp. 50–84, Business Source Complete. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2370.2009.00274.x.

Wu, S. and Lin, H. (2014) 'The Correlation of CSR and Consumer Behavior: A Study of Convenience Store', *International Journal of Marketing Studies*, 6(6), pp. 66-80, Canadian Center of Science and Education. doi: 10.5539/ijms.v6n6p66

Zafran, M. (2018) 'Effects of Corporate Social Responsibility on Consumers Brand Choice in Baltic Region: Mediating Role of Product Involvement Level', *European Integration Studies*, 12, pp .172-182, Business Source Complete. doi: 10.5755/j01.eis.0.12.20735.

Żemigała, M. (2017) 'Application of Social Responsibility standards in Poland and the World', *Ekonomia i Prawo.*, 16(2), pp. 229-240, Directory of Open Access Journals. doi: 10.12775/EiP.2017.016

## Appendices.

### A. Questionnaire.

Corporate social responsibility (CSR) and its impact on developing brand attitudes in the fast-moving consumer goods (FMCG) market in India.

Hello!!

I am Anuj Bolia, a student of MSc. Management at the National College of Ireland. I am undertaking this study as part of my course (Dissertation work).

This study aims to assess corporate social responsibility (CSR) and its impact on developing brand attitudes in the fast-moving consumer goods (FMCG) market in India. I would like to invite you to take part in this study. This page consists of the information about why the research is being conducted and what it would involve for you. Please take the time to read the following information carefully and decide whether or not to take part in this survey.

• Participation in this survey is voluntary. You can opt to exit from this survey at any given point and your responses will not be recorded.

• If you wish to complete this survey, all the responses will remain anonymous and confidential. In order to ensure that we cannot identify you and to keep responses confidential, we do not collect your name and any other personal data from you.

• All the responses are stored in the password-protected file and will be accessed only by my thesis guide and myself.

• The responses will be aggregated, analyzed, and discussed in my thesis and will not identify you individually or your responses.

It will be deleted after a certain time as per the National College of Ireland guidelines.

This will take about 2-5 minutes, your participation will greatly aid my research. If you have any queries regarding the study or are facing difficulty with answering the survey questions, please feel free to mail me at <u>anujbolia@gmail.com</u>

Thank you.

\* Required

l understand the above-mentioned information and voluntarily agree to take part in this research study.  $\ensuremath{^*}$ 

O Yes

O No

Next

Page 1 of 3

#### I believe the brands (like Tata Tea, ITC Ltd, Surf, Whisper, Horlicks and Nestle) that practice CSR offer and market quality products and services.\* General 1 2 3 4 5 CSR - Corporate Social Responsibility FMCG - Fast Moving Consumer Goods Strongly Disagree O O O O O Strongly Agree Are you aware of the Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) concept of business? I can relate to brands which perform strong CSR activities. \* O Yes 1 2 3 4 5 O No Strongly Disagree O O O O O Strongly Agree Which statement best reflects your opinion?\* O CSR is a tax responsibility O CSR includes environmental protection, customer-centric philanthropy and other aspects that society expects from a company It gives me pleasure to purchase brands that practice CSR. \* 1 2 3 4 5 O CSR is maximization of profits and dividends O None of the above Strongly Disagree O O O O O Strongly Agree How often, would you say, you buy an FMCG product (for instance: packaged foods, groceries, cosmetics, chocolates, etc.) $^{\rm *}$ I feel bad when people speak ill of brands (like Tata Tea, ITC Ltd, Surf, Whisper, Horlicks and Nestle), since they practice CSR sincerely.\* O Daily 1 2 3 4 5 O Once a week O Twice a week Strongly Disagree O O O O O Strongly Agree O More than twice a week O Occasionally I consider myself to be loyal to brands that practice CSR, since they are interested in doing more, than just making a profit by selling me a product. \* Do you know FMCG companies are involved in CSR activities? \* 1 2 3 4 5 O Yes Strongly Disagree O O O O O Strongly Agree O No Which of the below-mentioned FMCG company's CSR initiatives are you aware of? (Select the 3 you are most aware of). $^\ast$ I will not buy other brands if a similar brand, which is associated with CSR activities, is available. \* Hindustan Uniliver (HUL) 1 2 3 4 5 Procter & Gamble (P&G) Dabur Strongly Disagree O O O O O Strongly Agree 🗌 ітс Nestle 🗌 Britannia I am willing to pay slightly more for a brand/product that practices CSR if I need Godrej to.\* Patanjali Colgate-Palmolive 1 2 3 4 5 Parle Strongly Disagree O O O O O Strongly Agree To what extent do you agree with the following statements: (1-Strongly Disagree, 2-Disagree, 3-Neither Agree nor Disagree, 4-Agree, 5-Strongly Back Next Page 2 of 3 Agree) (CSR and Brand attitude - FMCG brands)

My respect for brands efforts in that direction		CON ac	แงกแต่ง มู	10445.64	ery une	
	1	2	3	4	5	
Strongly Disagree	0	0	0	0	0	Strongly Agree
l can distinguish bran	ds with (	CSR acti	vities fro	om other	compe	ting brands. *
	1	2	3	4	5	
Strongly Disagree	0	0	0	0	0	Strongly Agree
I believe brands (like 1 practice CSR are cond the well-being of its p	lata Tea, cerned a people. *	ITC Ltd, about the	Surf, Wi Ə best in	nisper, H terest o	lorlicks a f society	nd Nestle) that
I believe brands (like 1 practice CSR are con	lata Tea, cerned a ceople. * 1	ITC Ltd, about the 2	Surf, Wi a best in 3	hisper, H terest o 4	lorlicks a	nd Nestle) that
I believe brands (like 1 practice CSR are con	lata Tea, cerned a ceople. * 1	ITC Ltd, about the	Surf, Wi a best in 3	hisper, H terest o 4	lorlicks a f society	nd Nestle) that and contribute
I believe brands (like 1 practice CSR are cons the well-being of its p	lata Tea, cerned a people. * 1	ITC Ltd, about the 2 O	Surf, Wi a best in 3 O	hisper, H terest o 4 O	f society 5	and Nestle) that and contribute Strongly Agree
I believe brands (like 1 practice CSR are con- the well-being of its p Strongly Disagree	lata Tea, cerned a people. * 1	ITC Ltd, about the 2 O	Surf, Wi e best in 3 O	hisper, H terest o 4 O	f society 5	and Nestle) that and contribute Strongly Agree

Factors and Demogra	Factors and Demographics					
To what extent do you agree with the following statements: (1-Strongly Disagree, 2-Disagree, 3-Neither Agree nor Disagree, 4-Agree, 5-Strongly Agree) (CSR Factors - FMCG brands)						
It makes sense to me CSR activities. *	that FM	CG com	panies (	like Nest	tle, P&G,	HUL) carry out
	1	2	3	4	5	
Strongly Disagree	0	0	0	0	0	Strongly Agree
I believe that carrying company's core busin		R activiti	es shoul	d be coi	mplemer	ntary to the FMCG
	1	2	3	4	5	
Strongly Disagree	0	0	0	0	0	Strongly Agree
I believe that there sh company and the CSF					core bu	siness of a
	1	2	3	4	5	
Strongly Disagree	0	0	0	0	0	Strongly Agree
What is your age? * 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55+ What is your gender? *						
O Male						
O Prefer not to say						
O Other:						
What is your occupation? * Choose						
Which of these descri	bes vou	r incom	e last ve	ar? *		
<ul> <li>Less than Rs. 2,50,0</li> <li>Rs.2,50,000 - Rs.5,0</li> </ul>						
O Rs.5,00,000 - Rs.7,50,000						
O Rs.7,50,000 - Rs.10,00,000						
•						
<ul> <li>Rs.7,50,000 - Rs.10,</li> <li>More than Rs. 10,000</li> <li>Prefer not to say</li> </ul>						

## B. Data from SPSS.

Cronbach's alpha for research objective 1.

## \*All data (N=89):

Case Processing Summary					
		Ν	%		
Cases	Valid	89	100.0		
	Excluded <sup>a</sup>	0	.0		
	Total	89	100.0		
a. Listwise deletion based on all					
variable	s in the pro	cedure.			

Reliability Statistics					
	Cronbach's				
	Alpha Based				
	on				
Cronbach's	Standardize	N	of		
Alpha	d Items	Items			
.741	.740	3			

\*\*Part of data set aside (N=72):

Case Processing Summary					
		N	%		
Cases	Valid	72	100.0		
	Excluded <sup>a</sup>	0	.0		
	Total	72	100.0		
a. Listwise deletion based on all variables					
in the pr	ocedure.				

Reliability Statistics					
	Cronbach's				
	Alpha Based				
	on				
Cronbach's	Standardize	N	of		
Alpha	d Items	Items			
.693	.689	3			

Which could have been analysed also as,

Case Processing Summary					
		Ν	%		
Cases	Valid	72	80.9		
	Excluded <sup>a</sup>	17	19.1		
	Total	89	100.0		
a. Listwise deletion based on all					
variable	s in the pro	cedure.			

Reliability Statistics					
	Cronbach's				
	Alpha Based				
	on				
Cronbach's	Standardize	N	of		
Alpha	d Items	Items			
.693	.689	3			

In either case, the results come out to be the same.

## Cronbach's alpha for research objective 2.

## \*All data (N=89)

Case Processing Summary					
		Ν	%		
Cases	Valid	89	100.0		
	Excluded <sup>a</sup>	0	.0		
	Total	89	100.0		
a. Listwise deletion based on all					
variable	s in the proo	cedure.			

Reliability Statistics					
	Cronbach's				
	Alpha Based				
	on				
Cronbach's	Standardize	N	of		
Alpha	d Items	Items			
.858	.858	11			

\*\*Part of data set aside (N=72)

Case Processing Summary					
		N	%		
Cases	Valid	72	100.0		
	Excluded <sup>a</sup>	0	.0		
	Total	72	100.0		
a. Listwise deletion based on all variables					
in the pr	ocedure.				

Reliability Statistics		
	Cronbach's	
	Alpha	
	Based on	
Cronbach's	Standardiz	N of
Alpha	ed Items	Items
.855	.854	11